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ART & FRAGRANCE
MADE BY EXCELLENCE
Excellence for us is both an aspiration and a promise.
It is founded on the creativity and experience of our staff
and long-standing partnerships with renowned suppliers.
We constantly reinvent it by developing unique products
of unsurpassed quality. It is underpinned by a wellstructured distribution strategy and expressed in the
way we communicate. We strive to achieve our goals
with enthusiasm and commitment, driven by the
ambition to be a reliable and efficient partner
and an exemplary company in everything we do.

FOREWORD

Silvio Denz and Roger von der Weid

Ladies and Gentlemen
Art & Fragrance achieved good results in many of its markets in 2015, despite challenging
conditions.
Currency fluctuations were one of the factors affecting performance during the reporting
year. As the euro is by far the most important currency for our business we have now
decided to report the consolidated financial statements in this currency instead of Swiss
francs. The change is intended to provide a better comparison of operating performance.
In another change this year, reporting will be by segments, divided according to brand and
not business unit.
Group results
Thanks to higher sales, particularly in the strong second half of the year, we were able to
increase operating revenue by 14% year on year to EUR 126.5 million. Personnel costs rose
by 12% due to the opening of “Villa René Lalique” and growth in the perfumes business,
while other operating expenses remained stable. EBIT of EUR 11.5 million was more than
double the figure for 2014 and the net Group result increased to EUR 8.5 million.
Segment results
In the Lalique segment we increased sales by 12% in 2015. EBIT improved significantly
to EUR 4.2 million, following the negative operating profit recorded in 2014. Awareness
of the Lalique Art brand was enhanced further thanks in particular to the collaboration
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with world-famous artist Damien Hirst initiated last year. Lalique Parfums performed
very reliably, especially in the second half-year. At Lalique Crystal, increased co-branding
activities and the retail business contributed to healthy growth. In terms of markets, the
segment recorded business growth in the USA and China. By contrast, sales in the Middle
East and Russia declined, but remained at a satisfactory level in view of the difficult local
economic conditions.
Our luxury hotel “Villa René Lalique” near the Alsatian village of Wingen-sur-Moder has
attracted huge interest. We are delighted that the Villa’s restaurant, run by gourmet chef
Jean-Georges Klein, was awarded two Michelin stars in February 2016. “Villa René Lalique”
also joined the renowned hotel association “Relais & Châteaux” in February 2016.
The Ultrasun segment remained stable compared with the previous year’s good figures.
The focus during the reporting year was on the optimisation of product formulations,
which were successfully launched in the spring of 2016. In the other segments, Jaguar
recorded an increase in sales of 9% and Grès grew by 7%. Bentley, the youngest brand in
Art & Fragrance’s portfolio, increased its sales by over half and recorded positive EBIT for
the first time. Samouraï, one of the first brands in our portfolio, also generated a pleasing
increase in sales of 25%.
Art & Fragrance Services (AFS), our perfume filling and logistics firm, recorded a further
increase in production in 2015 in line with the growth in sales. As a result, we have
decided to implement a significant increase both in production capacity and our logistics
capability. Furthermore, the acquisition of ISO 22716 certification and the introduction
of the SAP information system have put us on course for improved efficiency and quality
assurance. Art & Fragrance Distribution, our perfume distribution company for the
traditionally fragmented French market, has been operating since April 2015; it posted
results that were in line with forecasts and has good growth prospects for 2016.
Outlook
We see this as a vindication of our strategy and expect to achieve further growth in all our
segments, even though market conditions in various regions will remain difficult. We will
continue our systematic efforts to build the diversified business model that has enabled
Lalique to reposition itself as a global lifestyle brand. In the perfume sector, we will
continue to target organic growth, which will be accelerated by targeted acquisitions.
We would like to take this opportunity to thank our employees for their professionalism
and commitment. We also extend our thanks to our valued shareholders, customers and
business partners for the confidence they have shown in us.

Silvio Denz
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Roger von der Weid
Chief Executive Officer
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ART & FRAGRANCE
AT A GLANCE
REVENUE BY REGION

EUROPE
revenue in
EUR million

58.5

NORTH AMERICA
revenue in
EUR million

27.8

POINTS OF SALE
Lalique

Beauty Division

700

12 800

SOUTH AMERICA
revenue in
EUR million

2.2

REVENUE BY BUSINESS
in %

4
Parfums Samouraï
6
Parfums Grès

3
Bentley
Fragrances

REVENUE BY BRAND
in EUR million
40
Lalique
Decorative
Items

8
Ultrasun

11
Jaguar
Fragrances

Total
revenue
in EUR million

Total
Lalique
in EUR million

Total
Jaguar Fragrances
in EUR million

126.5

85.2

13.5

Total
Ultrasun
in EUR million

Total
Parfums Grès
in EUR million

Total
other brands*
in EUR million

10.6

7.1

10.1

1
Villa René Lalique

1
Lalique Art 2
Lalique Jewellery

7
Lalique
Interior Design

17
Lalique
Parfums

—4—

*P
 arfums Samouraï, Bentley Fragrances,
Parfums Alain Delon, Art & Fragrance
Services, Art & Fragrance Distribution

ART & FRAGRANCE AT A GLANCE

ASIA
revenue in
EUR million

24.9

NEAR AND
MIDDLE EAST
revenue in
EUR million

13.1

KEY FIGURES

SHARE STATISTICS

Revenue
in EUR million

EBIT
in EUR million

Net Group result
in EUR million

126.5

11.5

8.5

5.3 (2014)

SymbolARTN The registered shares
VALOR3381329 of Art & Fragrance are
ISINCH0033813293 listed on the BX Berne
eXchange

Equity
in EUR million

Equity ration
in %

Net borrowings
in EUR million

Earnings per share
in EUR

Equity per share
in EUR

77.6

35.1

77.7

1.73

15.66

EBIT margin
in %

Number of
employees

Share price high
in CHF

Share price low
in CHF

9.1

597

23.75

18.00

111.2 (2014)

67.6 (2014)

4.9 (2014)

5.5 (2014)

35.0 (2014)

Share Information

67.1 (2014)

1.14 (2014)

557 (2014)

23.85 (2014)
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13.52 (2014)

21.00 (2014)

ART & FRAGRANCE
MEET OUR PEOPLE
We believe that everything we do is made possible by the
passion, artistry, dedication and craftmanship of our people.
Whatever their role is in our business, we believe and trust
our people will be the best that they can be.

“THE MIX OF MANUAL LABOUR
AND DELICATE CRAFTSMANSHIP
IN MY WORK ON THE CRYSTAL
IS WHAT I REALLY ENJOY.”

FABRICE REUTENAUER

HOT GLASS WORKER, LALIQUE FACTORY IN WINGEN-SUR-MODER

Fabrice’s mastery of the creation process for the Turbillon vase is an art in itself. The
mass of molten glass heated to 1400°C needed for the bigger pieces requires Fabrice
to work in a team with two other glass workers. Together they may need to lift the
molten crystal several times to and from the furnace to obtain an even finish in some
crystal colours. Through their craftsmanship Fabrice and his colleagues breathe life
into Lalique’s decorative glassware and set each piece on its journey to becoming part
of a proud heritage, an exemplar of iconic French luxury.

In her role as quality assurance and laboratory manager, Lise contributes to
the high quality and safety of all products emanating from our Art & Fragrance
Services facility in Ury, France. Sustainable quality analysis is a key step in
the production chain of the facility in Ury, which fills up to 6 million units
per year. Accordingly, it is closely monitored by Lise and her team to ensure
the long-term durability and stability of our products.

“WHAT MOTIVATES
ME IS THAT ALL
EMPLOYEES
OPINIONS ARE
IMPORTANT TO
ART & FRAGRANCE.”

LISE HOUY

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND LABORATORY MANAGER,
ART & FRAGRANCE SERVICES IN URY

Taking René Lalique’s drawings and adapting them to contemporary forms was
the first phase in Lalique’s modern history, under the guiding hand of Head of Creation Studio
Marc. He draws inspiration from his travels on the Métro, where he rubs shoulders with
the people and fashions of the French capital. In a second phase, he took the classic original
motifs and applied modern designs to them, creating new pieces which still recalled René
Lalique’s signature style. With this modern design language the Lalique brand has been able
to forge new partnerships and collaborations. For example, studio création, the design studio
in Paris run by Larminaux, has been responsible for work that includes the collaboration
with The Macallan whisky.

MARC LARMINAUX
HEAD OF CREATION STUDIO, LALIQUE IN PARIS

“ADOPTING THE LINES OF RENÉ
LALIQUE’S DRAWINGS IS A TRULY
INSPIRING TASK IN ITSELF.”

PAOLA AMBROSECCHIA
BRAND MANAGER BENTLEY FRAGRANCES & RETAIL MARKETING MANAGER,
ART & FRAGRANCE IN ZURICH

“WORKING WITH THE TEAM TO CREATE
BRAND STORIES IS REALLY REWARDING.”

As a brand manager, Paola creates concepts and strategies for launching product
lines and categories for Bentley Fragrances. Working with a licensed brand such as Bentley demands
the ability to work within an established brand identity, and so Paola needs to work closely with
our partners to achieve a consistent and specific expression of the Bentley brand with the desired
positioning within the fragrance industry. In her capacity as a retail marketing manager she supports
the other brand managers in creating campaigns in duty-free outlets and shop-in-shop concepts
to meet the various needs of the worldwide market.

Jean-Georges, who has held three Michelin stars since 2002,
presides in the kitchens at Villa René Lalique. The former country home
of René Lalique was refurbished and opened as a hotel in September
2015. The meticulous attention to detail of the chef and his team sets new
standards in the combination of modern and classic fine cuisine.
His breathtaking creations are served in the newly constructed restaurant
extension, designed as a perfect complement to the historic building.
The boutique hotel, which has six suites, enjoys a picturesque setting
in its own parkland, amid the forests of Alsace.

JEAN-GEORGES KLEIN

CHEF DE MAISON & CHEF DE CUISINE,
VILLA RENÉ LALIQUE IN WINGEN-SUR-MODER

“IT’S AN HONOUR TO HELP BREATHE
LIFE BACK INTO THE VILLA ONCE
OWNED BY THE ILLUSTRIOUS MOVING
SPIRIT BEHIND LALIQUE.”

“MY TIME WITH THE COMPANY
HAS NEVER CEASED TO
INSPIRE ME.”

CAROLINE DELAFOSSE
STORE DIRECTOR, LALIQUE BOUTIQUE IN PARIS

Caroline has been with Lalique since 1998, serving as the store director responsible for
managing the historic Lalique boutique at Rue Royale 11 in Paris since 2007. Together with
her team of sales assistants she ensures that clients visiting the boutique receive the highest
quality of service. Caroline has a thorough knowledge of Lalique’s past and present product
range, which helps her assemble the right combination of products for the boutique. Reliable
forecasts and statistics provided by store directors like Caroline are crucial to maintaining
a sustainable and strategic retail business.
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VILLA
RENE LALIQUE
Villa René Lalique in Alsace, France, opened its doors
on 18 September 2015. The Villa, built by René Lalique in
1920, has been transformed into a sumptuous hotel with
six exclusive suites and a restaurant, which was awarded
two Michelin stars within three months of opening. The
refurbishment and décor were commissioned from
interior designers Lady Tina Green and Pietro Mingarelli.
The restaurant extension was built by the internationally
renowned Swiss architect Mario Botta. Chef Jean-Georges
Klein gained three Michelin stars at the celebrated
establishment he previously ran. The exceptional cellar
is home to one of Europe’s finest wine collections
(20,000 bottles in stock). Villa René Lalique is a member
of the prestigious Relais & Châteaux collection.
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ART & FRAGRANCE
NEW HEAD OFFICE
After more than ten years at Bühlstrasse 1, 8125 Zollikerberg,
Art & Fragrance had outgrown the available space and
it was time to move to more modern offices. This led
the company to relocate to prestigious new premises at
Grubenstrasse 18 in the heart of Zurich at the beginning
of March 2016. This move provides a platform for future
growth, enabling us to take on additional personnel and
follow through on the planned expansion of various
business areas.
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ULTRASUN
PIONEERING
DEVELOPMENT
At the end of 2015, Ultrasun launched its ground-breaking
new formulation. The base compound is a very light sunprotection gel which is quickly absorbed. It combines
various active ingredients with extremely skin-friendly filter
technologies providing protection against harmful rays
such as infrared-A. The striking new packaging design has
received an excellent response from customers as the brand
underlines its aspirations to become a market leader in sun
protection and maintain its growth momentum.
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ART&FRAGRANCE
OUR BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

AS A SUCCESSFUL NICHE PLAYER
IN THE LUXURY GOODS SECTOR,
ART & FRAGRANCE SPECIALISES IN THE
CREATION, DEVELOPMENT, MARKETING
AND GLOBAL DISTRIBUTION OF
BRANDED PRODUCTS. ITS BUSINESSES
INCLUDE PERFUMES, COSMETICS,
CRYSTAL, JEWELLERY, HIGH-END
FURNITURE AND LIVING ACCESSORIES,
AS WELL AS ART AND HOSPITALITY.

‘PAST TO PRESENT’
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BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

PAST TO PRESENT

A SUCCESSFUL NICHE PLAYER

Art & Fragrance, based in Zollikerberg near Zurich, was
founded in 2000 by Silvio Denz and floated on the Berne
stock exchange (BX Berne eXchange) in September 2007.
In early 2007, Art & Fragrance secured its entry into the
cosmetics industry through the acquisition of Ultrasun, a
high-end Swiss company in the sun-care sector, allowing it
to diversify its brand portfolio for the first time. In February
2008, Art & Fragrance acquired Lalique, a company rich
in tradition which specialises in decorative crystal ware,
interior decor, perfumes, jewellery and art. With this
acquisition, Art & Fragrance completed a significant step in
its expansion and extended its activities into the perfume
sector and the luxury goods business. Art & Fragrance holds
95% of the capital of Lalique, while the remaining shares
are held by private investors. In late January 2013, Art &
Fragrance took over a French filling and logistics company,
having concluded that the in-sourcing of production
activities and logistics services ensured optimum control
of this part of the value chain. Art & Fragrance is holding
firmly to its expansion course and remains interested in new
brands and licences, especially in the perfume sector.

Art & Fragrance identifies as a niche player in an industry
dominated by multinationals and global luxury goods
suppliers. The company’s recipe for success is based on
its special expertise and the wealth of experience of its
employees and key partners in the following areas:
• Realignment and further development of a global luxury
brand such as Lalique
• Establishment and international consolidation of brands
such as Bentley Fragrances
• Brand building, with a particularly strong focus on
selected markets, such as the Samouraï line of perfumes
in Japan and other Far Eastern countries
• Repositioning of brand images, for example the
modernisation of the Jaguar Fragrances brand following
acquisition of the licence
• Professional management of global brands such as
Parfums Grès
• Identification of potential and acquisition of new brands,
also for the purpose of exploiting synergies in the
perfume and cosmetics segments, such as occurred
with Ultrasun and Lalique Parfums

The portfolio of Art & Fragrance includes the following
brands:
• Lalique (brand acquired in 2008)
• Jaguar Fragrances (licence acquired in 2002)
• Parfums Grès (licence acquired in 2001;
brand acquired in 2007)
• Parfums Samouraï (licence acquired in 2000;
brand acquired in 2007)
• Bentley Fragrances (licence acquired in 2011)
• Parfums Alain Delon (licence acquired in 2000;
brand acquired in 2007)
• Ultrasun (brand acquired in 2007)

‘INTERESTED
IN NEW BRANDS
AND LICENCES,
ESPECIALLY
IN THE PERFUME
SECTOR’
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BUSINESS MODEL

‘BECOME A WORLD LEADER
IN THE ART WORLD’
1. LALIQUE
1.1. CRYSTAL DECORATIVE ITEMS
Unique objects thanks to a century-old tradition
and expertise
In the area of crystal products, Art & Fragrance has expertise
that is unique on the international stage, passed on from
generation to generation at the Lalique production site
in Alsace. The training to become a fully qualified “maître
verrier” takes up to a decade. Throughout the history of the
company, extending back over more than a century, Lalique
has developed unique processes for producing elegantly
decorated works of art in crystal glass. A particular highlight
is the casting of sculptures using the lost-wax casting
process. The glassmasters of Lalique are among the very
few who are still masters of this difficult and artistic craft.
In its long history, Lalique has specialised in accentuating
the transparency and the reflections of glass. After René
Lalique’s death in 1945, production switched from plain
to crystal glass. Traditional craftsmanship combined with
innovative design has forged the inimitable, timeless style of
Lalique products.
From original idea to finished product
The creative teams define the product lines and work
together with the master glassmakers on the technical
execution. The molten crystal mass is formed and cooled,
before being cut, chiselled, engraved, sandblasted, polished
and satin-finished. Only those pieces that pass the rigorous
quality control process leave the works for distribution via
the worldwide network of own-brand boutiques, franchisees
and external distribution partners. Lalique is represented
through over 700 points of sale worldwide.
1.2 INTERIOR DESIGN
Precision craftsmanship applied to bold designs
Lalique offers its clients the luxury of made-to-measure
objects in crystal. The creative possibilities are endless.
The interior designers at Lalique Interior Design Studio
create classic or boldly innovative pieces or installations,
while overseeing the entire process, from concept to
production. Lalique Maison offers high-end furniture items
and luxurious home accessories in Art Deco style. These
derive from the company’s creative partnership with
Green & Mingarelli Design agency. The exquisite lines of
furniture and accessories are manufactured in close cooperation with first-class suppliers and manufacturers who
share Lalique’s passion for the finest craftsmanship and
superior quality. Fabric interior fittings and entire lines of
furniture are embellished with crystal features and wellknown Lalique motifs.

1.3 JEWELLERY
Between integration and outsourcing —
savoir-faire in the service of our collections
The strategy is based on customised development processes
for all product lines. It depends on internationalisation
and outsourcing, since the highest specialist expertise
is an essential competitive factor. Lalique’s experience
and specialisation in crystal-ware combine with the
sophisticated skills of the ateliers or workshops. Lalique
ensures conformity to its quality standards at every stage of
the process, from selection of raw materials through to the
finished product. For jewellery market penetration, Lalique
relies on dealers of high renown, department stores and its
own network of points of sale.
1.4 ART
Where art and crystal meet
Lalique Art places the expertise of Lalique at the service of
major contemporary artists, designers with flair, and cultural
foundations. The aim is to create unique and extraordinary
works of art. Lalique Art offers artists new inspirations and
designs, using the interplay of light, transparency, colour
and relief. Where art and crystal meet, exciting new forms
of artwork inevitably result.
In recent years, Lalique Art has created outstanding crystal
artworks based on sculptures by Yves Klein (Victoire de
Samothrace and Terre Bleue) and Rembrandt Bugatti,
developed joint projects with the international architects
Zaha Hadid (Visio and Manifesto vases) and, most recently,
in January 2016, with Mario Botta (Géo vases), and
collaborated with Damien Hirst, the contemporary artist of
world renown (Eternal collection).
Lalique Art is currently collaborating with major
contemporary artists on new and exceptional artworks,
to be presented later in the year.
Lalique’s aspiration in developing these partnerships
is to become a leading partner in the art world.
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1.5 CO-BRANDING
Lalique also engages in co-branding projects in partnership
with selected brands of distinction and leaders in their field.
The combined creativity and expertise of the two partners
results in prestigious collections. All the crystal pieces are
produced in limited editions, either numbered or unique.

3. ULTRASUN
Reformulated advanced Swiss sun protection with in-house
formula expertise and external Swiss manufacturing support
for a leadership position in the market.
Over a period of two years the Ultrasun team developed
a completely new basic formula for the leading Sensitive
Skin range. The all-new formula offers a new approach,
combining perfect protection with proven skin-friendly
UVA and UVB filter technology as well as infrared-A
protection. The formula has a new gel basis with a unique
structure for rapid absorption and 0% of ingredients which
have raised concerns. The formulations are now free of
perfumes, mineral oils, emulsifiers, preservatives, silicones
and aluminium. They will be marketed in several countries
with a dedicated dermatological focus emphasising the
advanced formulations. New high-tech airless packaging
in combination with a design relaunch have been rolled
out in early 2016. With very reliable outsourced production
in Switzerland and dedicated in-house formula expertise,
Ultrasun is also well-prepared to fulfil the requirements of
future “Swissness” regulations, which already demand 60%
of value creation in Switzerland.

1.6 PARFUMS
For further reference please see 2. PERFUMES.

2. PERFUMES
Creating value in the right place
Thanks to Art & Fragrance Services, the Group’s world
production and logistics hub for perfumes, Art & Fragrance
controls its entire value chain, from creation to distribution.
The Group operates lean structures and therefore benefits
from shorter decision-making channels than many of its
competitors. The development lead time for new products
at Art & Fragrance generally takes four to six months for
special editions and line extensions, and up to twelve
months for new product lines. In terms of time to market,
this makes the company one of the industry leaders.
From original idea to finished product
Art & Fragrance is committed to professional, efficient
project management in its product development operations:
the teams responsible define the brand strategy and the
related product concept, commission external specialists
to create the fragrance and the design of the perfume
bottle and packaging, and finally decide on the advertising
and marketing material before the products are ready for
distribution. At each stage of this process, the focus is on
selecting the most suitable partner from the international
network of contacts which the company has built up over
the years. The procurement of components takes place
via leading suppliers and manufacturers. Art & Fragrance
ensures quality control throughout the entire value chain.
International distribution is meanwhile organised via a
worldwide network of independent distribution partners
and agents. In this way, the most effective partner for
the commercialisation of each market and brand can be
selected to ensure the greatest possible market penetration.

ART &
FRAGRANCE IS
COMMITTED TO
PROFESSIONAL,
EFFICIENT
PROJECT
MANAGEMENT
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STRATEGY

BRAND
Maintenance and optimisation of existing brand portfolio
Art & Fragrance constantly pursues the optimisation and
further development of its brand portfolio. In particular,
this involves continuous brand development through the
launch of new product lines, as well as extension of existing
product ranges, optimisation of sales channels and opening
up new markets. Art & Fragrance is well placed to achieve
further growth with broad and stable margins, especially in
its perfume business. Much of this is owed to the successful
establishment of its brands.

External growth by means of further acquisitions in
the luxury goods sector
Although not a priority, Art & Fragrance continues to
scrutinise further opportunities to acquire luxury brands
that would constitute a good fit with the existing portfolio.
Central factors governing this process are the level of
strategic fit with existing activities and products, as well as
the potential to build up a perfume or cosmetic brand.
Expansion of business activities through private labelling
With private labelling, Art & Fragrance offers its clients
the opportunity to create customised perfumes and
cosmetics, for instance with their own company logo. Art &
Fragrance develops high-quality products in a number of
price categories, ranging from customised perfume and
cosmetic creations using standard components to luxury
editions which, upon request, can even incorporate crystal.
Art & Fragrance has built up the requisite expertise for such
business through its many years of activity in the perfume,
cosmetics and crystal industries. Thanks to its broad
network of partners, it can also offer solutions perfectly
tailored to client needs and wishes in terms of design and
quality.

Expansion of brand portfolio
Art & Fragrance aims to secure further growth and plans
to incorporate new brands into its portfolio in the future.
Acquisition opportunities arise from the granting of new
licences by up-and-coming brands, and as a result of
portfolio reshuffles by luxury goods groups.
Lalique: integrating and pursuing the strategy of growth
Art & Fragrance has invested substantially in the crystal
sector, resulting in higher productivity at the Wingen-surModer factory and, crucially, in the optimisation of the
supply chain.
The distribution channels have been expanded, partly by
opening proprietary boutiques in strategic markets, but also
by increasing the numbers of partner-managed points of
sale. These may be operated by independent franchisees
or distributors, and are an especially strong presence in the
emerging markets.
Apart from this investment and expansion, the main
objective remains to increase awareness of Lalique as a
contemporary luxury and lifestyle brand by pursuing its
strategy of diversification across five key areas of activity:
crystal decorative items, interior design, jewellery, perfumes,
and art. The co-branding programme will also be extended
to new partnerships.

‘PURSUING THE STRATEGY
OF GROWTH’
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PORTFOLIO
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LALIQUE
DECORATIVE ITEMS

—

An expression of timeless modernity

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Brand acquired in

2008

Lalique is a legend, symbolic of a craftsmanship that
commands respect and admiration. Over the years, Lalique
has become more than just a name. It has become a
powerful icon for exceptional expertise and craftsmanship, a
synonym for excellence, and a mastery of contrast between
brilliant and satin-finished crystal. It has evolved into a
lifestyle, with endless creative possibilities that have René
Lalique’s artistic identity as the template. Lalique collections
are composed of creations that have become classics and
others that will undoubtedly follow suit. It is, perhaps, this
timeless modernity which is most characteristic of Lalique.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

40

The Fall/Winter 2015 collection takes us to the land of
Languedoc. Between sea and mountains, this sun-drenched
region in the South of France offers many landscapes:
wide open spaces, scrubland, ancient massifs and beautiful
gorges. The authenticity of this land has inspired many
artists, including René Lalique. In 1929, fascinated by the
Mediterranean flora, he designed the Languedoc vase with
accentuated relief of cactus leaves overlaying in a graphic
play on repetition. Over time, it has become iconic.
Today, Lalique imbues these historical designs with fresh
vision. The original Languedoc vase is transfigured,
appearing in new sizes, colours, shapes or uses. Each piece
draws its inspiration from nature and invites us to admire
its beauty. Sculptor of light, Lalique uses a subtle elixir of
creativity and know-how to immortalise nature through
crystal.
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BRANDS

1 Hirondelles decanter, hand carved stopper
2 Anemone vase, hand crafted 3 Languedoc vase,
limited edition in bronze
1

2

3
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LALIQUE
INTERIOR DESIGN

—

From designer decor to interior architecture

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Brand acquired in

2008

Lalique creations adorn the most beautiful interiors. These
collections of furniture, light fittings, mirrors and ornate
crystal panels hold pride of place in the most creative
corners of the home. Time may pass, but the contemporary
look of the historic Lalique designs is unchanged. Nowadays
there are new and imaginative creations from Lalique
Interior Design Studio, whose modern approach use 100%
crystal, while Green & Mingarelli Design make it their mission
to revisit Art Deco.
The Lalique Interior Design Studio structures space and
modulates light. Leading-edge designs and creative
innovations belong quite naturally to the appointments of
private residences, restaurants, luxury hotels, yachts and
elsewhere. Each creation is a fitting of distinction: a crystal
shower panel for a villa on Ibiza; formal banisters for the
ballroom of a cruise liner; or an illuminated sculpture in a
starred restaurant. Parallel to these special projects, Lalique
Interior Design Studio develops and renews interior design
creations in crystal on behalf of the brand.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

7

Composed of furniture, ornamental accessories and maisonmade fabrics, the Lalique Maison collections imbue the most
sophisticated interiors with the spirit of Art Deco.
Recently, the French interior designer Pierre-Yves Rochon
partnered with the Lalique Interior Design Studio to
participate in his new project commissioned by the George
V Hotel. The brief was to decorate the new Mediterranean
restaurant of the Four Seasons in Paris in timeless French
style with modern and functional elements, incorporating
Lalique’s iconic crystal panels.
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BRANDS

1 The restaurant's entry doors decorated with
“Lauriers” motif crystal panels 2 Table decorated
with “Roses” motif crystal panels 3 Workstation
decorated with “Merles et Raisins” mirrored crystal
panels
1

2

3
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LALIQUE
JEWELLERY

—

Jewellery blossoming into new life

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Brand acquired in

2008

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

2

The latest collection was supported by an exclusive
collaboration with the Opéra National de Paris, a significant
collaboration embodying both parties’ shared desire for
renewed strategic momentum. Firstly, Lalique & the Opéra
National de Paris released the Adrienne jewellery collection,
composed of five pieces in white gold with diamonds,
rubellite and onyx. The delightful collaboration generated a
lot of interest and received international press coverage.

In 2015, Lalique Jewellery underwent two landmark phases
in its development: the revival of its costume jewellery
collections and a collaboration with the Opéra National
de Paris. The costume jewellery collections benefited
from some fresh impetus. Iconic ranges (Aréthuse, Nysa,
Icône, Vibrante and Cactus) saw their designs revisited
and reworked to bring them up to date. Such strategic
repositioning has helped make Lalique jewellery a musthave accessory once more, by appealing to the brand's
traditional clientele and to a new generation of customers
from all over the world.
The La Divine collection from Lalique Jewellery was
designed in homage to Sarah Bernhardt, a famous friend
and muse of René Lalique. The collections demonstrate
all the distinctive features that make Lalique Jewellery so
special: a combination of exceptional materials and original
settings, as well as innovative craftsmanship and techniques.

And finally, a partnership with the prestigious Swiss brand
Fabric Frontline resulted in a selection of archive drawings
by the expert jeweller René Lalique being reproduced on a
collection of precious silk and cashmere scarves.
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BRANDS

1 Lalique scarf collection, Plumes Impériales—
Bleu Royal 2 Ring from the Adrienne fine jewellery
collection 3 Lalique scarf collection, rework of the
original drawings from René Lalique, c. 1888–1910
1

2
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3

LALIQUE
ART

—

Where art and crystal meet

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Brand acquired in

2008

Through the Lalique Art Division, Lalique partners with
some of the foremost contemporary artists, designers
and cultural foundations, to create unique and rare pieces.
Lalique's unique expertise in crystal making in particular the
lost-wax casting technique, allows to inspire artists with new
dimensions and horizons of light transparency, colour and
relief, creating new wonders through the combination of art
and crystal.
Outstanding artworks came about through the collaboration
between Lalique and Yves Klein Archives (Victoire de
Samothrace and Terre Bleue), Rembrandt Bugatti, George
Lam (Art Buddha), Zaha Hadid (Visio and Manifesto vases),
Damien Hirst (Eternal) and Mario Botta (GÉO vases).
In 2015, Lalique Art unveiled two major collaborations:
Eternal, with world-renowned artist Damien Hirst; and La
Terre Bleue, a joint project with Yves Klein Archives.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

1

Eternal is an exceptional edition of 36 crystal panels which
take the butterfly as their motif—close to the hearts of René
Lalique and Damien Hirst. In these stunning works, Damien
Hirst captures an eternal image of a butterfly in crystal. As
the artist explains, “When the light shines through these
panels, it feels like the butterflies are brought back to life in
some way”.
Originally created by Yves Klein in 1961, Terre Bleue takes
on a completely new dimension in crystal, giving it an
unrivalled transparency, the light revealing the essence of
the material. In creating this exceptional piece, Lalique—
thanks to the talent of its artisans coupled with the lostwax technique and artfully recreated IKB blue—has further
extended the possibilities of crystal.
In January 2016, Géo by Mario Botta joined Lalique’s Crystal
Architecture collection of pieces designed by famous
architects. A masterful design characterised by its variable
geometry and transparency, Géo epitomises the shared
values of the crystal-maker Lalique and the Swiss architect
Mario Botta, an artist who explores the possibilities of
volume.
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BRANDS

1 La Terre Bleue, Yves Klein by Lalique 2 Yves Klein
during the filming of “The Heartbeat of France”
in the studio of photographer Charles Wilp, Düsseldorf, February 1961 3 La Terre Bleue, Yves Klein by
Lalique (close up detail)
1

2

3
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LALIQUE
PARFUMS

—

The essence of the Lalique lifestyle

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Brand acquired in

2008

The history of the Lalique company and that of perfume
are closely intertwined, Lalique having played a pioneering
role in the development of the modern perfume industry.
At the start of the 20th century, the meeting between René
Lalique and the perfume maker François Coty marked the
beginning of a collaboration that gave rise to extraordinary
bottles, initially created for Coty but then for the other
great perfume makers of the era (such as Roger & Gallet,
Houbigant and Molinard). In 1992, the house of Lalique
launched its first perfume, Lalique de Lalique, initiating a
line of top-of-the-range feminine and masculine fragrances,
which have two things in common: distinctive scents
composed of the very best raw materials, and unique
bottles inspired by the work of René Lalique. In late 2012,
Lalique introduced Voyage de Parfumeur, a range of scented
candles and diffusors combining the crafts of perfumery
and interior décor. The collection marks a new departure on
the Lalique journey.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

17

In 2006, Lalique invented Encre Noire, a perfume
constructed around vetiver. Encre Noire has since become
a great classic, an iconic fragrance for Lalique, and also
a reference in perfumery. Ten years on, the success story
continues: Lalique presents Encre Noire à l’Extrême, a scent
that pushes the olfactory proposal of the original fragrance
to its limits. It is richer, sultrier and more powerful than ever.
The fragrance’s woody intensity sheds new light on the
personality of the Encre Noire man.
Encre Noire à l’Extrême plays on contrasts to express every
facet of masculinity through a powerful, seductive accord.
It is based on two outstanding qualities of vetiver, one
from Haiti, the other one from Java. Precious, elegant iris
wraps the vetiver accord. Spiritual, sensual incense lends its
dusky depth. A sparkling bergamot blends with the woody,
aromatic freshness of cypress and smooth elemi. A drydown of sandalwood and Siam benzoin prolongs this woody
intensity and leaves a sensual trail, unique and masculine... in
the extreme.
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BRANDS

1 Encre Noire à l’Extrême, advertising campaign
2 Encre Noire à l’Extrême, product shot
3 Still of Encre Noire à l’Extrême mood video
1

2
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3

JAGUAR FRAGRANCES

—

The boldness and flair of a signature fragrance

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Licence acquired in

2002

Jaguar—the name does not just make the hearts of car
enthusiasts beat faster. It stands for power combined with
outstanding design. Jaguar Fragrances, proudly positioned
as a prestige brand, magnificently symbolises the brand’s
attributes of style, performance and modernity.
The perfumes draw on the aesthetic DNA of Jaguar and its
iconic heritage. The brand has gained international fame
through its founding principles of sporting verve, passion,
tradition and quality. The first fragrance under the licence
from Jaguar was launched in 2002—Jaguar Classic; a
fragrance that has become a timeless masterpiece with
millions of units sold worldwide. The original fragrance from
1988—Jaguar For Men—was re-introduced in 2008 with a
modernised design. Like the great classics, the new Jaguar
fragrances thrill as they cast their spell, striking new and
unique notes of vivacious elegance. They are a constant
source of surprise and inspiration, combining powerful
character and boasting dynamism.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

11

Jaguar Pace, revealed in Spring 2016 and designed to
celebrate the arrival of the all-new Jaguar F-Pace family
sports car, is no exception. The new line is an expression
of true masculinity, emanating power, confidence, and
embodying a particularly harmonious marriage of aromas.
The overall fragrance experience creates a deep feeling of
well-being that we can never tire of; such are the optimum
requirements of a future classic fragrance.
The imposing appearance of the new Jaguar car has
been passed on to the fragrance design. The bottle has a
similarly bold silhouette and the base is complimented by
a sophisticated lattice design reminiscent of the famous
Jaguar radiator grill. The centre of the bottle is emblazoned
with a shiny round silver insignia with the unmistakable
emblem of Jaguar, the legendary Growler.
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BRANDS

1 Jaguar Pace, advertising campaign
1
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ULTRASUN

—

Professional sun protection for sensitive skin

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Brand acquired in

2007

Since it was established in 1992, the Swiss sunscreen brand
Ultrasun has concentrated on especially skin-friendly
formulations—as far as possible free of controversial
ingredients and at the same time very quickly absorbed—
for the normal-skin range and as well as for sensitive-skin
products.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

8

In 2015, a fundamental reformulation of the whole Sensitive
range was completed after several years of development,
for a production launch and market preparation in early
2016. For the first time, the new products offer protection
against infrared-A as well as UVA and UVB. A groundbreaking new basic structure in a particularly light, fastpenetrating gel formulation has also enabled the combined
action of the best-performing chemical and physical
sun protection filters. The new formulations are free of
perfumes, mineral oils, emulsifiers, preservatives, silicones
and aluminium. Obviously, a suitably prestigious packaging
design was also developed, which caused a great stir on its
worldwide presentation to customers and ensures that the
brand’s outstanding skincare performance now also has a
clear visual statement.
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BRANDS

1 Ultrasun, product range
2 Ultrasun, advertising campaign
1

2
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PARFUMS GRÈS

—

A present-day take on Parisian chic

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE
Licence acquired in

2001

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE
Brand acquired in

2007

Parfums Grès fragrances made history from their inception
and have been leading the way in perfumery ever since.
First was Cabochard, with a seductive chypre accord and
bold name meaning stubborn. Since its market debut in
1959, it has acquired cult status, winning the acclaim of
fragrance fans. Cabotine, a newcomer in 1990, retains
a strong following among young women to this day. Its
success is surely due to its character, combining romance
and pertness, and the stylised flowers of its design. In 2014,
Grès embarked on a new chapter in its innovative history
with the Lumière Collection. The line, which contains three
fragrances, pays tribute to the eponymous city of Paris and
the couture houses' designs, which are true works of art.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

6

In 2015, Parfums Grès went on to complete its exciting
reinvention. After L’Héritage (Cabochard, Cabotine) and
Les Conceptuels (Collection Lumière), the brand launched
La Couture, a new category highlighting the fashion and
couture facets of Grès.
The first model of this olfactory haute couture show, Pièce
Unique, draws its inspiration from Madame Grès’ profoundly
artistic approach to fashion: her quest for the ultimate, ideal
dress, contemporary but worthy of an ancient goddess.
A dress made up of a single piece of fabric, which, once
draped on a woman’s body, would become as singular as its
wearer. The quintessence of haute couture. A work of art.
A Pièce Unique.
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BRANDS

1 Pièce Unique, advertising campaign
1
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PARFUMS SAMOURAÏ

—

Where tradition and modernity meet

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE
Licence acquired in

2000

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE
Brand acquired in

2007

The name means “servant” or “companion” and explains
the role of the Samurai as Japan’s warrior caste in the preindustrial age. Men of outstanding courage and honesty,
they were always at pains to perfect their mastery of the
martial arts.
Samouraï perfumes are particularly popular in Japan due to
their association with Japan’s noble warrior class. Younger
buyers in particular identify strongly with the heroic legends
of their ancestors. The fragrance is directly associated with
the early 18th century legend of the 47 Samurais, which
millions of followers still celebrate every year. These valiant
warriors achieved fame on account of their willingness to
sacrifice their lives in order to uphold their ideals.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

4

Launched in the 1990s, Samouraï perfumes have earned
a place among the best-selling fragrances in Japan and as
part of an ongoing brand promotion, various flankers and
line extensions are added annually to keep abreast of the
times. The continued success led to the foundation of the
Parfums Samouraï company at the beginning of 2014. The
same year saw the launch of the Samouraï International line,
with fragrances for women and men, to establish its status
as a fully fledged brand in its own right and to set out on the
conquest of new markets.
Positioned between power and wisdom, energy and
spirituality, Parfums Samouraï renders homage to a proud
tradition. The brand is constantly monitored in Japan,
leading to new additions to the line and its accessories each
year. This ensures the range is always attuned to new trends.
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BRANDS

1 Samouraï Aquamarine, advertising campaign
1
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BENTLEY FRAGRANCES

—

A modern expression of luxury

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE

Licence acquired in

2011

Bentley has been a byword for luxury since 1919. Second
to none in the luxury bracket, Bentley Motors boasts
superior performance and unique, bespoke looks. Unrivalled
expertise is the key to their success. The epitome of
tradition and of a way of life, Bentley embodies a strong
value set which transposes successfully into the world of
perfume. Scrupulous attention to detail, design modelled on
the iconic lines of the cars, and luxury finishing touches are
the precepts which guide the creation of Bentley perfumes.
Bentley for Men—the first line from Bentley Fragrances—
was unveiled at Harrods in London in March 2013. It went on
to enjoy a successful nationwide release in the UK, where
it is now ranked among the top perfume brands. Bentley
Fragrances are also proving to be a remarkable success
story in other markets, especially in the Middle East, but also
in Europe.

SHARE OF ART & FRAGRANCE
REVENUE IN 2015

in %

3

In March 2015, Bentley Fragrances launched its new Bentley
Infinite perfume as a Harrods’ exclusive. The contrast
between its fresh and woody ingredients is exciting.
Masculine energy abounds, generating a sense of absolute
freedom. Bentley Infinite mingles perfectly with the skin
and releases youth and power. Elegance is the keynote. The
design of the Bentley Infinite bottle adopts the same design
codes as the ones of the luxury Bentley cars. The melding
of glass and metal gives the bottle a touch of modernity,
refinement and luxury.
In March 2016, Bentley Fragrances unveiled its new Bentley
Infinite Rush perfume as a Harrods’ exclusive. The freshness
from the top notes evokes a rush of adrenaline, followed by
a cocktail of spices to electrify the senses. Stirring woody
base notes conjure up Bentley's characteristic universe
of luxury, refinement and warmth. Bentley Infinite Rush
expresses the many faces of the contemporary adventurer
through its olfactory evolution.
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BRANDS

1 Bentley Infinite Rush, advertising campaign
1
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PARFUMS ALAIN DELON

—

Celebrating an icon of seduction

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE
Licence acquired in

AFFILIATION WITH
ART & FRAGRANCE
Brand acquired in

2000

2007

BRAND
RELAUNCH

2015

Champion and Champion Aqua evoke Delon’s passion for
sport and thrill-seeking, from racing cars to boats. The two
fragrances play on a fern note, which each interprets in its
own way. Champion releases an aquatic, musky note while
Champion Aqua is aromatic and sensual with the same
scent of fern.

The range consists of six perfumes, four for men and two
for women.
The four men’s eau de toilette versions are imbued with
the charisma and charm that made Alain Delon so special.
Characteristics such as these made him world famous as an
icon of seduction.
Séducteur and Séducteur Rebel are tributes to the magnetic
charm of the man who seduced some of the world’s most
beautiful women. They also allude to his fiery temper. Both
fragrances belong to the aromatic wood family, but are quite
distinct. Séducteur’s spicy notes make it a sophisticated
classic, while Séducteur Rebel unfolds the fresh, fruity notes
of a truly modern perfume.

The two perfumes for women evoke Delon’s idyllic days
in Saint-Tropez, Paris and elsewhere. The fruity, floral
fragrance of Rendez-Vous à Saint-Tropez is reminiscent of
carefree summer days spent by celebrities holidaying in the
South of France. Paris, city of love, provides the backdrop
for Rendez-Vous sur la Seine. This perfume is inspired by
the passionate love affair between Alain Delon and Romy
Schneider. With its floral and oriental notes, Rendez-Vous
sur la Seine also embodies all the elegance and romance
of Paris.
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BRANDS

1 Séducteur Rebel, product shot 2 Champion,
product shot 3 Parfums Alain Delon, mood shot
1

2

3
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ART & FRAGRANCE
OUR PRODUCTION PLANTS
46 Art & Fragrance Services
48 Lalique Factory
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ART & FRAGRANCE SERVICES

—

Perfume production and logistics company

NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEES

PERFUME PRODUCTION
CAPACITY
units per year

WAREHOUSE
CAPACITY
pallets

NUMBER OF
PRODUCTION LINES

MACERATION
CAPACITY
litres

100

6 000 000

6 000

4

90 000

(one automated line/three
semi-automated lines)

(tanks with a capacity of
100 to 5 000 litres)

The production company Art & Fragrance Services, which
is headquartered in Ury (France), has been part of the Art &
Fragrance Group since the end of January 2013. The factory
is a full service provider, engaged in perfume preparation,
filling and packing. It also provides related logistics services
such as warehousing of components and end-products, and
dispatch of the finished goods worldwide.
Art & Fragrance Services can look back on a successful year
in 2015. Investment in machinery upgrades and servicing as
well as employee training ensured the capacity of existing
bottling lines was increased. The number of units produced
in 2015 reached 6 million, the optimum level of current
capacity utilisation.

Production and logistics capacities will be significantly
expanded through corresponding investments in 2016 to
support the growth of the Art & Fragrance Groups, perfume
business and also increase the share of third-party revenues.

Logistics operations were expanded with the addition of
new packaging lines, and optimised with new organisational
units and structures.
Investment in occupational and building safety ensured
a more agreeable working environment for employees.

The groundwork for the introduction of an enterprise
resource planning system (SAP) has been underway since
March 2015 and has successfully gone live at the beginning
of January 2016. The ISO 27716 certification (Cosmetic
Good Manufacturing Practices) has also been acquired in
February 2016. This standard forms the bedrock of a highend service company. This measure is a further step towards
the integration of the Art & Fragrance Group and allows
additional optimisation of the work processes.

ACTIVITIES
• Reception and storage of packaging components and
raw materials
• Perfume maceration
• Automatic, semi-automatic and manual packaging lines
• Finished products storage
• Preparation of orders
• Worldwide shipping
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PRODUCTION PLANTS
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LALIQUE FACTORY

—

Production site and logistics centre

NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEES

230

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

pieces per year

350 000 to
400 000

STORAGE CAPACITY

pallets

2 400

(depending on the type
of collection)

Today, the factory originally built by René Lalique in 1921
has a footprint of 15,000 m2 and a useful floor area of
20,000 m2.
René Lalique chose to locate his factory in Wingen-surModer, Alsace, because the region was famous for its
glassmaking tradition and well-forested at a time when
wood-fired ovens were used. Opening his factory in
the aftermath of World War I, he was able to recruit the
necessary hands locally and receive subsidies as part of the
effort to build up industry in this part of France.
Since 1945, the Lalique factory has only manufactured
crystalware, making the shift from glass to crystal at the
instigation of Marc Lalique, René's son. As defined by
French standards, crystal is glass containing at least 24%
lead oxide, the component that gives crystal its weight,
brilliance and ringing sound.
Set in a protected natural park, the Lalique factory must
comply with strict environmental protection regulations. By
implementing major improvements in recent years, it has
reduced its environmental impact to nearly zero.

Since Art & Fragrance's acquisition of Lalique in 2008,
nearly 17 million euros have been invested in overhauling the
factory and optimising processes (mould-related spending
excluded). A new electric furnace was installed in 2010
and, over the years, the mould workshop has been updated
with new equipment, such as five-axis milling machines
and lathes. The new logistics centre built in 2011 facilitates
inventory management and has shaved 48–72 hours off the
time needed to deliver orders.
While the workshops have indeed been modernised,
Lalique's inimitable artistic style continues to require
substantial hand-crafting by talented master artisans.
Normally, it takes about a decade for glass blowers,
sculptors and cutter-engravers to learn their craft on the
job. Lalique makes sure master craftsmen are in-house at
all times, especially those that have won the hard-to-attain
Meilleur Ouvrier de France title, awarded in a prestigious
competition held every four years. Today, seven Lalique
artisans belong to this elite.

Logo on top:
Every piece that leaves the Lalique factory is engraved with this traditional
signature, symbolizing the quality and continuity of Lalique craftsmanship.
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PRODUCTION PLANTS

REMARKABLE CRAFTSMANSHIP
The production process is long and starts with mouldmaking, a fundamental skill at the factory. Next, the master
glassmakers in the hot glass workshops bring molten crystal
to extremely high temperatures (1400°C) before gathering
and shaping it by means of various techniques. Sometimes,
a work of art or large piece is cast using the lost-wax
technique employed by René Lalique until 1930, which relies
on single-use plaster instead of cast-iron mould.
At this point, the pieces undergo a series of manual
operations in the cold glass workshops that account for
two-thirds of total production time. At Lalique, retouching,
sculpting and chiselling are executed with painstaking care
to achieve consummate perfection, whereupon the pieces
are sandblasted, polished and satin-finished.
Throughout the manufacturing process, pieces are
repeatedly and closely inspected to verify that they meet
house quality standards and reflect the original creative
intention. Finally, the Lalique signature is applied by hand
with a diamond-tip stylus to certify their authenticity and
quality.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

LEGAL GROUP STRUCTURE

ART & FRAGRANCE SA
ZOLLIKON/CH

LALIQUE
SUISSE SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

LALIQUE
MAISON SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

LALIQUE
ART SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

LALIQUE SA
PARIS/FR
95 %

LALIQUE
PARFUMS SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

PARFUMS
GRÈS SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

BENTLEY
FRAGRANCES
SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

LALIQUE
NORTH
AMERICA
INC.
EAST
RUTHERFORD/US
100 %

LALIQUE LTD.
LONDON/UK
100 %

LALIQUE
ASIA LTD.
HONG KONG
65 %

LALIQUE
CRYSTAL
SINGAPORE
PTE LTD.
SINGAPORE
100 %

LALIQUE
GMBH
FRANKFURT/
DE
100 %

VILLA RENÉ
LALIQUE SAS
WINGENSUR-MODER/
FR
100 %

LALIQUE
SHANGHAI
LTD.
SHANGHAI/
CN
100 %

LALIQUE
(XUHUI) LTD.
SHANGHAI/
CN
100 %
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JAGUAR
FRAGRANCES
SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

PARFUMS
SAMOURAÏ SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

ULTRASUN
AG
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

A&F
MANAGEMENT
SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

PARFUMS
ALAIN
DELON SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %

ULTRASUN
GERMANY
GMBH
RADOLFZELL/
DE
100 %

ULTRASUN
(UK) LTD.
REIGATE/UK
100 %

ART &
FRAGRANCE
SERVICES
SASU
URY/FR
100 %

ART &
FRAGRANCE
DISTRIBUTION
SA
ZOLLIKON/CH
100 %
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ART &
FRAGRANCE
DISTRIBUTION
SÀRL
URY/FR
100 %

SCI DU MONT
À GRILLON
WINGENURY/FR
100 %

PRINCIPLES
Art & Fragrance undertakes to comply with the principles of
good corporate governance and follows the requirements
of the BX Berne eXchange concerning information on
corporate governance. It also voluntarily aligns itself with
the relevant standards of the SIX Swiss Exchange.

PARENT COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS
Parent company
Art & Fragrance SA, registered in Zollikon, Switzerland, is
the parent company of the Art & Fragrance Group. The
shares of Art & Fragrance SA (ARTN) have been listed
since 19 September 2007 and are traded on the BX Berne
eXchange.

Conditional capital
There is conditional capital of CHF 50,000 for an employee
incentive plan.
Restrictions on transferability
• The transferability of the shares of Art & Fragrance is not
subject to any restrictions in principle.
• Owners of shares are entered in a share register. The
company must be notified of any changes.
• The persons entered in the share register shall be deemed
to be the shareholders in relation to the company.
• Entry in the share register requires that proof be provided
of acquisition of the shares.
• After hearing the case put by the person concerned,
the company may cancel any relevant entry in the share
register that was made on the basis of false information.
Compensation, participations and loans
Compensation is listed in the Notes to the parent company
financial statements.

Shareholders
As at 31 December 2015, a total of 346 shareholders
(previous year: 288) were entered in the share register.

Ownership of share capital as at 31 December 2015 (2014)
Shareholders
Board of Directors and
Executive Board
Other shareholders

Shares
31.12.2015

Shares
31.12.2014

Remarks

4 407 800

4 407 820

see major
shareholders

466 423

462 002

Non-registered shares

80 377

130 178

Treasury shares

45 400

–

5 000 000

5 000 000

4 250 000

4 250 000

Total
Major shareholders
Silvio Denz

Corporate body

Number

Board of Directors
Executive Board
1

4 407 000 (4 407 000)
800 (820)

1

Excl. Roger von der Weid and Claudio Denz, who are listed under
“Board of Directors”.

Management transactions
“Management transactions” are transactions carried out
by members of the Board of Directors and of the Executive
Board.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Ordinary share capital
As of 31 December 2015, the share capital amounted
to CHF 1 million (31 December 2014: CHF 1 million) and
consisted of 5,000,000 registered shares with a nominal
value of CHF 0.20 each (31 December 2014: 5,000,000
registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.20 each).
All registered shares issued are fully paid up and bear equal
rights in all regards.
Changes in capital
In 2014 and 2015 there were no alterations in the capital
at Group level. In 2014, in one of the Group’s companies
some shares were sold to minority shareholders which
led to an increase in non-controlling interests (note 26 of
the consolidated financial statements). There are nondistributable reserves in various Group companies.

The following management transactions were carried out
in 2015.
Number of
Number of
persons transactions
Managementtransactions in shares

1

1

Value of purchasing
transactions (CHF)
400

Shareholder loans
As at the end of 2015, there were two loans granted to the
company by the main shareholder, one of CHF 8 million
and one of CHF 20 million. The CHF 20 million loan
is subordinate to a bank loan of Art & Fragrance SA.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors
All members of the Board of Directors were re-elected at
the General Meeting of Shareholders on 26 June 2015.

Business transactions with related parties
All transactions with related parties and companies are
based on arm’s-length contracts at market conditions.
Business relations with related parties are detailed in the
consolidated accounts of the annex in note 27.
Shareholder participation
All shareholders entered in the share register with voting
rights are entitled to attend and vote at the General Meeting
of Shareholders. Each registered share entitles the holder
to one vote. No restrictions on voting rights exist.
Shareholders may arrange to be represented at the General
Meeting of Shareholders by a person authorised in writing,
by the management representative, by the independent
proxy or by a portfolio representative by means of a written
power of attorney. No legal quorum exists. Invitations to the
General Meeting of Shareholders are issued in writing
at least 20 days in advance together with an announcement
in the company’s official publication medium, the
Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce (Schweizerisches
Handelsamtsblatt, SHAB). For organisational reasons, only
those shareholders entered in the share register on the day
before invitations are sent may attend the General Meeting
of Shareholders. Shareholders are entitled to receive
dividends and to lay claim to the rights stipulated in the
Swiss Code of Obligations.
Change of control and defensive measures
The articles of incorporation of Art & Fragrance SA contain
neither an opting-out nor an opting-up clause. No change
of control clauses with members of the Board of Directors,
of the Executive Board or senior management exist.
Auditors
The General Meeting of Shareholders elects the auditor
for a period of one year. In 2015, Ernst & Young AG, Zurich,
was elected as statutory auditor. The auditor in charge was
Alessandro Miolo, a Swiss certified accountant.
Information policy
Art & Fragrance undertakes to pursue an open,
transparent and continuous information policy, publishing
semi-annual and annual results in compliance with the
requirements of the BX Berne eXchange. In addition to
the detailed information published at the General Meeting
of Shareholders, the company also provides information
about significant and material events, which is archived on
the company website at www.art-fragrance.com. The CEO
is responsible for communication with investors and the
media. The official publication medium of Art & Fragrance
is the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce (SHAB).

Term of office
The term of office of each member of the Board of Directors
is one year.
Dual functions
The Board of Directors believes that the current dual
functions of Roger von der Weid as CEO and Executive
Director and Claudio Denz as Creative Director & Head of
Digital and member of the Board of Directors are to the
benefit of Art & Fragrance, facilitating efficient leadership
and an excellent flow of information between shareholders,
the Board of Directors and the Executive Board.
Committees
No committees exist.
Working method of the Board of Directors
Pursuant to the articles of incorporation the Board of
Directors meets at least four times a year and as often
as business requires. In 2015, the Board of Directors held
four meetings (2014: three). Where required, the Board
of Directors calls in external specialists for the treatment
of specific themes. The responsibilities of the Board
of Directors concern the strategic management of the
company, supervision of the Executive Board and financial
control. The Board of Directors examines the company’s
objectives and identifies opportunities and risks. It also
appoints the members of the Executive Board. Its rights and
obligations, authorities and responsibilities are laid down
in the organisational regulations. The Board of Directors
constitutes a quorum if at least half of its members are
present. A decision must be supported by the majority of
the votes cast in order to be valid. In the event of a parity
of votes, the Chairman of the Board of Directors has the
casting vote.
Executive board
The Executive Boards of the Beauty Division on one hand,
and Lalique on the other, are responsible for the operational
management of the business. Their rights and obligations,
authorities and responsibilities are laid down in the
organisational regulations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND EXECUTIVE BOARD

SILVIO DENZ
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Educated in Finance. Various
positions held in Switzerland and
abroad. Developed and managed
Alrodo Group. Sold it in 2000 to
Marionnaud, after which he founded
Art & Fragrance SA. Investments in
vineyards and wine trading houses.
Active in real estate in London and
in international art trading. Resident
in England since 2001. Other board
memberships: Lalique SA, Paris;
Lalique Limited, London; Lalique Asia
Limited, Hong Kong. Born in 1956, dual
Swiss and Italian citizenship, Chairman
of the Board of Directors from 2000
to 2005 and from 2007 till today;
occupation: entrepreneur.

— 54 —

ROLAND WEBER
Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors
Master of Economics from the
University of St. Gallen (HSG).
Management functions at Jaguar
Switzerland and Yves Saint Laurent
Switzerland and Austria. CEO and
Executive Director of Alrodo. Later
director of Retail Factory SA, Cham.
Resident in Dubai since 2007. Other
board mandates: Schneider Feldmann
AG, patent and brand attorneys,
Cham. Born 1957, Swiss, member of
the Board of Directors since the 2003
General Meeting of Shareholders;
Chairman from 2005 until the
Extraordinary General Meeting of
Shareholders on 21 May 2007, since
then Vice-Chairman; occupation:
entrepreneur.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE BOARD

MARC ROESTI
Member of the Board of Directors
Studied business administration
in Cambridge and Sheffield, UK.
Management roles in Sales &
Marketing in the perfume industry.
CEO at Takasago. Founded MontBlanc Resourcing in 1999 and since
then consultant to the Art & Fragrance
Group on perfumes and cosmetics.
Other board mandates: Ultrasun
AG, Zollikon; Lalique SA, Paris. Born
1946, Swiss, member of the Board
of Directors since the 2008 General
Meeting of Shareholders; occupation:
owner and founder of Mont-Blanc
Resourcing, a consultancy firm for
the creation and development of
perfumes and cosmetics.

CLAUDIO DENZ
Member of the Board of Directors
and of the Executive Board/Creative
Director & Head of Digital

ROGER VON DER WEID
Member of the Board of Directors
and of the Executive Board/Chief
Executive Officer

Commercial diploma. Brand and
product management at Art &
Fragrance. Assignments at Lalique
North America and Lalique SA abroad;
subsequently involved in various
Lalique projects. Born 1988, dual Swiss
and Italian citizenship, member of
the Board of Directors since the 2011
General Meeting of Shareholders;
occupation: Creative Director since
January 2013 and Head of Digital
since January 2015.

Trained as an attorney at law; Master
of Laws from Duke University School
of Law, North Carolina (USA); Swiss
Certified Tax Expert; Executive Master
of Corporate Finance. Lawyer and tax
consultant. Managing Director of a
trust company. Other board mandates:
Lalique SA, Paris; Lalique Asia
Limited, Hong Kong; Lalique Limited,
London; Ermitage Holding AG,
Zollikon; Ultrasun AG, Zollikon. Born
1970, Swiss, member of the Board
of Directors since the 2006 General
Meeting of Shareholders; occupation:
CEO of Art & Fragrance SA since
January 2006.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
EXECUTIVE BOARD

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS ART & FRAGRANCE
Silvio Denz, Chairman; Roland Weber, Vice Chairman; Marc Roesti, Member;
Claudio Denz, Member; Roger von der Weid, Executive Director

AUDITORS
Ernst &Young AG

CEO
Roger von der Weid

LALIQUE
Executive Board

SILVIO DENZ
Chairman of the Board of Directors & CEO

ROGER VON DER WEID
Deputy CEO

CLAUDIO DENZ
Creative Director/
Head of Digital

Management

ALEXIA
ASHWORTH
Head of
Marketing

JEAN CHRISTOPHE CAREL
Head of
Decoration

PASCAL
GRUSSI

Head of
Human
Resources

CERISE
GUISEZ

Head of
Communication & PR
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ANNE
KAZURO
Head of
Jewellery

MARC
LARMINAUX
Head of
Creation Studio

ADELINE
LUNATI
Head of Interior
Design Studio

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE BOARD

BEAUTY DIVISION

Executive Board

ROGER VON DER WEID
CEO

CLAUDIO DENZ
Creative Director/
Head of Digital

DAVID RIOS
COO Fragrance Division

ULRICH HÜRLIMANN
CFO

BENEDIKT IRNIGER
Head of Suncare

ROSEMARIE ABELS
Head of Procurement &
Production

MARIE-LAURE JOLY
Head of Marketing

DAVID RIOS (AD INTERIM)
Head of Sales & Export

DENIS
MANDRY
Head of
Production

FRANCIS
MASSOTTE
Head of Supply
Chain

FRANÇOIS
MIGNON
Head of
Procurement

ALEXIS
RUBINSTEIN
Head of
Administration &
Finance
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VACANT
Head of Sales

ESTHER FUCHS
Communication & PR
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on
the consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

IN EUR THOUSANDS

REF.

2015

2014
RESTATED

Net revenue from sales of goods and services

4

122 931

103 402

Other operating income

5

3 571

7 840

126 502

111 242

–52 027

–46 555

74 475

64 687

Operating revenue
Material costs, licences and third-party services

6

Gross result
Salaries and wages

7

–26 532

–23 644

Other operating expenses

8

–30 056

–29 921

17 887

11 122

–6 392

–5 604

11 495

5 518

EBITDA
17/18

Depreciation and amortisation/impairment
EBIT
Financial income

9

3 668

3 118

Financial expenses

9

–5 523

–2 385

9 640

6 251

10

–1 153

–936

8 487

5 315

Group profit before taxes
Income taxes
NET GROUP PROFIT
of which attributable to:
Non-controlling interests

–166

–406

8 653

5 721

11

1.73

1.14

REF.

201 5

2014
RESTATED

NET GROUP PROFIT

8 487

5 315

Exchange differences

2 521

49

Items that can be reclassified subsequently to the
income statement, net of tax

2 521

49

–434

–949

Owners of the parent company
Earnings per share basic/diluted (in EUR)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
IN EUR THOUSANDS

Remeasurements of pension plans

19

Tax on remeasurements of pension plans
Items that cannot be reclassified subsequently to the
income statement, net of tax
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

109

238

–325

–711

2 196

–662

10 683

4 653

of which attributable to:
Non-controlling interests
Owners of the parent company
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–124

–346

10 807

4 999

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
IN EUR THOUSANDS

REF.

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014
RESTATED

01.01.2014
RESTATED

Cash and cash equivalents

12

13 937

10 886

11 451

Trade accounts receivable

13

20 296

12 993

12 761

Inventories

14

61 032

57 642

48 073

Other receivables

15

9 518

9 150

5 220

104 783

90 671

77 505

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment

17

42 314

32 167

28 972

Intangible assets

18

64 529

61 154

61 245

Other non-current assets

16

5 119

4 822

4 582

Deferred tax assets

24

4 577

4 288

3 799

Total non-current assets

116 539

102 431

98 598

TOTAL ASSETS

221 322

193 102

176 103

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
IN EUR THOUSANDS

Bank liabilities

REF.

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014
RESTATED

01.01.2014
RESTATED

12

47 452

29 689

30 437

14 561

11 719

9 135

873

979

998

15 761

17 787

10 825

78 647

60 174

51 395

Trade accounts payable
Income tax liabilities
Other current liabilities

20

Total current liabilities
Other deferred liabilities

21

867

1 395

5 060

Provisions

22

400

678

1 337
30 719

Non-current financial liabilities

23

35 966

36 743

Pension fund liabilities

19

4 767

3 993

2 889

Deferred tax liabilities

24

20 393

19 713

19 482

62 393

62 522

59 487

141 040

122 696

110 882

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Share capital

25

816

816

816

Capital reserves

25

7 782

7 782

7 782

Retained earnings/other reserves

25

69 010

58 997

53 935

77 608

67 595

62 533

Total equity before non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
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2 674

2 811

2 688

80 282

70 406

65 221

221 322

193 102

176 103

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

IN EUR THOUSANDS

REF.

2015

9 640

6 251

17/18

6 392

5 604

580

1 001

22

–280

–218

Financial expenses

9

5 523

2 385

Financial income

9

–3 668

–3 118

Group profit before taxes
Depreciation and amortisation/impairment
Change in pension liabilities
Change in provisions

Other non-cash income/expenditure

2014

440

269

Cash flow from operations before change in
net current assets

18 627

12 174

Decrease (+)/increase (–) in trade accounts receivable

–7 519

66

1 525

–9 068

Decrease (+)/increase (–) in inventories
Decrease (+)/increase (–) in other receivables

–165

–3 886

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in trade accounts payable

–1 772

2 533

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in other current liabilities

–4 231

6 938

–910

–1 244

–1 391

–1 511

Interest paid
Tax paid
Interest received
Cash flow from business operations
Investments in subsidiaries net of cash and cash equivalents

28

Sale of shares in subsidiaries

21

7

4 185

6 009

–106

–

–

469
–8 440

Investments in property, plant and equipment

17

–14 948

Sale of property, plant and equipment

17

–132

223

Investments in intangible assets

18

–1 097

–114

–16 283

–7 862

Cash flow from investments
Repayment of/reduction in shareholder loans
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares
Increase in other non-current liabilities
Cash flow from financing activities
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents
DECREASE/INCREASE IN NET CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

–1 873

–

–807

–108

–

171

705

1 765

–1 975

1 828

– 639

208

–14 712

183

Balance of net cash and cash equivalents as at 01. 01.

12

–18 803

–18 986

Balance of net cash and cash equivalents as at 31. 12.

12

–33 515

–18 803
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES
IN EQUITY

IN EUR THOUSANDS

BALANCE AS AT 31.12.2013
IN CHF THOUSAND

SHARE
CAPITAL

CAPITAL
RESERVES

TREASURY
SHARES

OTHER
RESERVES

RETAINED
EARNINGS

TOTAL
EQUITY
BEFORE
MINORITY
INTERESTS

1 000

9 537

–77

–1 799

67 974

76 635

NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

TOTAL
EQUITY

3 294

79 929

Exch. rate restatement 1.2255

816

7 782

–63

–1 468

55 466

62 533

2 688

65 221

BALANCE AS AT 01.01.2014

816

7 782

–63

–1 468

55 466

62 533

2 688

65 221

Consolidated comprehensive
income

–

–

–

–18

5 017

4 999

–346

4 653

816

7 782

–63

–1 486

60 483

67 532

2 342

69 874

Balance 2014
Change in consolidation structure

–

–

–

–

–

–

469

469

Purchase of treasury shares

–

–

–108

–

–

–108

–

–108

–

–

171

–

–

171

–

171

BALANCE AS AT 31.12.2014

Sale of treasury shares

816

7 782

–

–1 486

60 483

67 595

2 811

70 406

BALANCE AS AT 01.01.2015

816

7 782

–

–1 486

60 483

67 595

2 811

70 406

Consolidated comprehensive
income

–

–

–

2 476

8 331

10 807

–124

10 683

816

7 782

–

990

68 814

78 402

2 687

81 089

Balance 2015
Change in consolidation structure

–

–

–

–

13

13

–13

–

Purchase of treasury shares

–

–

–807

–

–

–807

–

–807

816

7 782

–807

990

68 827

77 608

2 674

80 282

BALANCE AS AT 31.12.2015
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Art & Fragrance Group was formed on 14 April 2000
in Switzerland. The parent company is Art & Fragrance SA,
domiciled at Bühlstrasse 1, Zollikerberg/Zollikon.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Art &
Fragrance Group are prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
published by the IASB.

The Art & Fragrance Group is active in the development,
marketing and global distribution of perfumes, cosmetics,
crystal and jewellery. It markets the brands Lalique (crystals,
perfumes, jewellery, art, hospitality and interior design),
Parfums Grès, Parfums Samouraï, Jaguar Fragrances,
Bentley Fragrances, Parfums Alain Delon (all perfumes) and
Ultrasun (suncare).
Components for the perfume and cosmetics brands are
manufactured by external partners under contract. Whereas
production and logistics activities for the perfume brands
were insourced in February 2013, in cosmetics, the same
services continue to be carried out by external partners.
Marketing and distribution activities are for the most part
carried out through independent distribution partners.
The Group has its own factory in France responsible for
manufacturing parts of the products for the Lalique brand
(in crystals in particular). Marketing and distribution
activities in this segment are carried out by the Group’s own
national subsidiaries or points of sale, as well as through
independent distribution partners.

With the exception of securities and derivatives held
as current assets which are measured at fair value, the
accounts are prepared on the basis of acquisition cost or
amortised cost. The Consolidated Financial Statements
of the Art & Fragrance Group are prepared in Euro (EUR).
Unless otherwise stated, all figures have been rounded to
the nearest EUR thousand.
The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved
by the Board of Directors on 18 April 2016 and have been
recommended for approval by the General Meeting of
Shareholders on 24 June 2016.
New accounting policies
With the exception of the new and amended accounting
standards and interpretations set out below (valid as at
1 January 2015), the accounting policies are the same as
those used in the previous year.
• IAS 19 Employee Benefits entitled Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions Annual Improvements (Dec 2013),
two cycles published
The above-mentioned new and revised IFRS standards
had no significant impact on the accounting policies and
presentation of the assets, finances and earnings situation
of the Art & Fragrance Group.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
Change of the functional currency decision
In its meeting on 11 December 2015, the Board of Directors
of the Art & Fragrance Group decided that the financial
reports would no longer be presented in the national
currency of Switzerland (CHF), but would change to the
international currency EUR from the 2015 business year. The
reasons for this decision are as follows:
• The dominance of, or the dependency of business
activities on, the EUR has grown over the years. This holds
true for both income and costs. In particular, both of the
Group’s production sites (Lalique crystal manufacturing
and the Perfume filling and logistics operations) are in
France and thus within the Eurozone.
• With regard to the 2015 half-year report, the Art &
Fragrance Group has decided to change the segment
structure and to restructure on the basis of brands. The
business activities of the largest segment, the Lalique
brand, are dominated by the EUR. This, and the fact
that the major portion of the income of the other brands
accrues in EUR, shows a significant dependency of the
A&F Group on the EUR.
• The importance of EUR for the Group has been further
accentuated with the opening in autumn 2015 of the
Villa René Lalique, a Relais & Château Hotel with a 2-star
Michelin restaurant in Winger-sur-Moder in France.
This new business pillar and the substantial associated
investments have considerably increased the A&F Group’s
EUR sensitivity and influenced the subsequent decision to
change the functional currency from CHF to EUR.

As a consequence of this change, currency effects will have
a limited impact on the annual results, which will allow
improved comparisons of the operative performances.
Adjustment of the previous year’s figures
The results of the previous year have also been recalculated
in EUR for comparison purposes. In accordance with the
requirements of IFRS (IAS 8), the previous year will also be
presented in the currency valid at the time (CHF).
Recalculation of equity
The opening balances of the comparison period (in
particular of the equity) are recalculated according to cutoff date exchange rates. The resulting values for the share
capital and capital reserves will continue to be presented
at the historical rates and there will be no currency
adjustment over the coming years. The further positions in
the equity will be recalculated or newly calculated at the
exchange rates valid at the end of the year.
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Translation of consolidated income statement prior year

Net revenue from sales of goods and services
Other operating income

2014
IN EUR
THOUSAND
RESTATED

2014
IN CHF
THOUSANDS
PRESENTED

103 402

125 571

7 840

9 521

Operating revenue

111 242

135 092

Material costs, licences and third-party services

–46 555

–56 536

64 687

78 556

Salaries and wages

–23 644

–28 714

Other operating expenses

–29 921

–36 335

EBITDA

11 122

13 507

Depreciation and amortisation/impairment

–5 604

–6 806

5 518

6 701

Gross result

EBIT
Financial income
Financial expenses
Group profit before taxes
Income taxes
NET GROUP PROFIT

3 118

3 786

–2 385

–3 339

6 251

7 148

–936

–1 136

5 315

6 012

of which attributable to:
Non-controlling interests

–406

–493

5 721

6 505

1.14

1.30

2014
IN EUR
THOUSAND
RESTATED

2014
IN CHF
THOUSANDS
PRESENTED

NET GROUP PROFIT

5 315

6 012

Exchange differences

49

–1 067

Items that can be reclassified subsequently to the
income statement, net of tax

49

–1 067

–949

–1 152

Owners of the parent company
Earnings per share basic/diluted (in EUR)

Translation of consolidated statement of comprehensive income prior year

Remeasurements of pension plans
Tax on remeasurements of pension plans
Items that cannot be reclassified subsequently to the
income statement, net of tax
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

238

289

–711

–863

–662

–1 930

4 653

4 082

of which attributable to:
Non-controlling interests
Owners of the parent company
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–346

–475

4 999

4 557

Translation of consolidated balance sheet prior years
ASSETS

31.1 2.2014
IN EUR
THOUSAND
RESTATED

31.1 2.2014
IN CHF
THOUSANDS
PRESENTED

01.01.2014
IN EUR
THOUSAND
RESTATED

01.01.2014
IN CHF
THOUSANDS
PRESENTED

Cash and cash equivalents

10 886

13 089

11 451

14 033

Trade accounts receivable

12 993

15 623

12 761

15 638

Inventories

57 642

69 309

48 073

58 913

9 150

11 001

5 220

6 397

90 671

109 022

77 505

94 981

Other receivables
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment

32 167

38 678

28 972

35 505

Intangible assets

61 154

73 531

61 245

75 056

Other non-current assets

4 822

5 814

4 582

5 615

Deferred tax assets

4 288

5 141

3 799

4 656

Total non-current assets

102 431

123 164

98 598

120 832

TOTAL ASSETS

193 102

232 186

176 103

215 813

31.1 2.2014
IN EUR
THOUSAND
RESTATED

31.1 2.2014
IN CHF
THOUSANDS
PRESENTED

01.01.2014
IN EUR
THOUSAND
RESTATED

01.01.2014
IN CHF
THOUSANDS
PRESENTED

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Bank liabilities

29 689

35 698

30 437

37 300

Trade accounts payable

11 719

14 091

9 135

11 195

979

1 176

998

1 223

Other current liabilities

Income tax liabilities

17 787

21 388

10 825

13 266

Total current liabilities

60 174

72 353

51 395

62 984

1 395

1 677

5 060

6 201

678

815

1 337

1 638
37 646

Other deferred liabilities
Provisions

36 743

44 180

30 719

Pension fund liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities

3 993

4 801

2 889

3 540

Deferred tax liabilities

19 713

23 703

19 482

23 875

Total non-current liabilities

62 522

75 176

59 487

72 900

122 696

147 529

110 882

135 884

Total liabilities
Share capital
Capital reserves

816

1 000

816

1 000

7 782

9 537

7 782

9 537

Retained earnings/other reserves

58 997

70 732

53 935

66 098

Total equity before non-controlling interests

67 595

81 269

62 533

76 635

Non-controlling interests
Total equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2 811

3 388

2 688

3 294

70 406

84 657

65 221

79 929

193 102

232 186

176 103

215 813
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Translation of consolidated cash flow statement prior year
2014
IN EUR
THOUSAND
RESTATED

2014
IN CHF
THOUSANDS
PRESENTED

Group profit before taxes

6 251

7 148

Depreciation and amortisation/impairment

5 604

6 806

Change in pension liabilities

1 001

1 215

Change in provisions
Financial expenses
Financial income
Other non-cash income/expenditure
Cash flow from operations before change in
net current assets
Decrease (+)/increase (–) in trade accounts receivable

–218

–265

2 385

3 339

–3 118

–3 786

269

327

12 174

14 784

66

80

Decrease (+)/increase (–) in inventories

–9 068

–11 012

Decrease (+)/increase (–) in other receivables

–3 886

–4 719

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in trade accounts payable

2 533

3 076

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in other current liabilities

6 938

8 425

Interest paid

–1 244

–1 511

Tax paid

–1 511

–1 835

Interest received
Cash flow from business operations
Sale of shares in subsidiaries
Investments in property, plant and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Investments in intangible assets
Cash flow from investments
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares

7

9

6 009

7 297

469

569

–8 440

–10 249

223

271

– 114

– 139

–7 862

–9 548

–108

–131

171

208

Increase in other non-current liabilities

1 765

2 143

Cash flow from financing activities

1 828

2 220

Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents

208

689

DECREASE/INCREASE IN NET CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

183

658

Balance of net cash and cash equivalents as at 01. 01.

–18 986

–23 267

Balance of net cash and cash equivalents as at 31. 12.

–18 803

–22 609
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Standards published but not yet effective
The following new or revised IFRS interpretations have been published, but will only enter into force at a later date and were
not applied early in the present consolidated financial statement:
STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

DESIGNATION

EFFECTIVE DATE

PLANNED APPLICATION BY THE
ART & FRAGRANCE GROUP

Amendments to IAS 1

Disclosure initiative

1 January 2016

2016 business year

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Acceptable methods of depreciation and
amortisation

1 January 2016

2016 business year

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41

Agriculture: Fruit-bearing plants

1 January 2016

2016 business year

Amendments to IAS 19

Employee contributions to defined benefit
plans

1 July 2014

2015 business year

Amendments to IAS 27

Equity method in separate financial
statements

1 January 2016

2016 business year

Amendments to IAS 28
and IFRS 10

Sales or contributions of assets between
an investor and its associate/joint venture

open

open

IFRS 9

Financial instruments

1 January 2018

2018 business year

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Investment entities: Application of the
investment entities exception

1 January 2016

2016 business year

Amendments to IFRS 11

Accounting for acquisitions of interests
in joint operations

1 January 2016

2016 business year

IFRS 15

Revenue from contracts with customers

1 January 2018

2018 business year

IFRS 16

Leases

1 January 2019

2019 business year

Amendments to IAS 12

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Lossses

1 January 2017

2017 business year

Annual improvements to IFRS

September 2014

1 January 2015

2016 business year

The amendments considered relevant by the Art &
Fragrance Group are explained in the following:
IFRS 9—Financial instruments:
IFRS 9 Financial instruments includes requirements for
recognition and measurement, impairment, derecognition
and general hedge accounting. The application of IFRS 9 is
currently being analysed. It is assumed that there will be
no significant effects on the classification and measurement
of the Group’s financial assets.

IFRS 16—Leases:
IFRS 16 specifes how to recognise, measure, present and
disclose leases. The application of IFRS 16 is currently
being analysed in detail. It is assumed that the leasing
arrangements and underlying rights and obligations have to
be recognised in the balance sheet, which leads to a higher
balance sheet total.
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Consolidation principles and consolidated companies
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the
financial statements of Art & Fragrance SA and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December of each financial year. The
accounts of the subsidiaries are prepared using standard
accounting policies and presented on the same balance
sheet date as those of the parent company.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of
acquisition, i.e. from the date on which the Group effectively
obtains control of the company concerned. Control is
deemed to have been obtained when the following three
principal criteria have been met: the Group has control of
the company, the Group is exposed or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the company and the
Group has the ability to affect those returns through its
control of the company. The entities are deconsolidated as
soon as control ceases. All intra-Group balances, revenues
and expenses, and unrealised gains and losses from intraGroup transactions are eliminated in full.
Business combinations are reported in the balance
sheet according to the purchase method. The cost of
an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, measured at fair value on the
acquisition date, including any non-controlling interests.
For each business combination, the acquirer measures the
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree either at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Costs incurred in the course of a business
combination are recognised as expenses.

Foreign currency translation
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in
euros (EUR), whereas Art & Fragrance SA presents the
standalone financial statements in its functional currency,
Swiss francs (CHF). The consolidated subsidiaries are at
liberty to determine their own functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency.
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rate applicable at the time of the
transaction. Monetary balance sheet items are translated
at the year-end rate, with any currency gains/losses
recognised directly in the income statement. Non-monetary
balance sheet items are translated at the historical rate.
For the purpose of preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements, with regard to the annual accounts of all
subsidiaries whose functional currency is not EUR, balance
on the income statement is shown at the average rate for
the year. Currency translation differences are recognised as
a credit or charge in equity under “Other reserves”; in the
case of loss of control over a subsidiary, such differences are
derecognised again via the income statement.
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The following EUR exchange rates were used:
201 5

2014

Year-end rate (balance sheet)

0.9238

0.8317

Average rate for the year (income statement)

0.9367

0.8235

Year-end rate (balance sheet)

0.9169

0.8263

Average rate for the year (income statement)

0.9011

0.7535

Year-end rate (balance sheet)

1.3571

1.2885

Average rate for the year (income statement)

1.3769

1.2404

Year-end rate (balance sheet)

0.1182

0.1065

Average rate for the year (income statement)

0.1162

0.0972

Year-end rate (balance sheet)

0.6479

0.6237

Average rate for the year (income statement)

0.6553

0.5944

Year-end rate (balance sheet)

0.1412

0.1332

Average rate for the year (income statement)

0.1444

0.1225

CHF

USD

GBP

HKD

SGD

CNY

Risks arising from currency fluctuations are explained in greater detail in the section entitled “Financial risk management”.
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Significant estimates and assumptions
All estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis and are based on past experience and expectations
concerning future events that appear reasonable given
the circumstances. Naturally, the resulting estimates often
depart from the subsequent actual circumstances. The key
estimates and assumptions that may cause volatility with
regard to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
coming financial year are discussed below.
Impairments on intangible assets
The Art & Fragrance Group reviews its intangible assets
(brand values) annually for impairment in accordance with
accounting principles, a process which requires that the
underlying cash-generating units be assessed. Estimated
factors such as volumes, selling prices, sales growth,
gross profit margins, operating costs, as well investments,
market conditions and other economic factors are based
on assumptions that management regards as reasonable.
A planning period of 5 years is normally used for brand
impairment tests. Further details on this subject can be
found in Note 18.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised whenever Art & Fragrance
has a legal or constructive obligation arising from a past
event, the future settlement of which will probably lead
to an outflow of funds that can be reliably determined.
Restructuring costs are charged to the operating result of
the period in which the management undertakes to carry
out the restructuring, insofar as the costs can be estimated
with sufficient reliability and the measures were specified
and communicated satisfactorily. Further details on this
subject can be found in Note 22.
Accounting and valuation principles
Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised whenever it is likely that the
financial benefit from a transaction will go to the Group
and the amounts in question can be measured reliably.
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration
received. Sales tax is not taken into account, while discounts
and rebates are recorded as revenue reductions. Revenue
from the sale of products is recognised when the material
opportunities and risks associated with the ownership of the
goods and products have transferred to the buyer.

Pension schemes
The expense from defined post-employment benefit
plans is determined on the basis of actuarial calculations.
The actuarial evaluation is carried out on the basis of
assumptions regarding discount rates, future increases
in wages and salaries, mortality and future pension
increments. Due to the long-term nature of such plans,
these estimates are subject to material uncertainties.
Further details on this subject can be found in Note 19.
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declining balance depreciation is based on the estimated
useful life of each asset. The individual tangible asset
categories are depreciated as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost or manufacturing cost, net of accumulated, scheduled
depreciation and impairment losses. Scheduled linear or

Land

No depreciation

Buildings

40 years

Equipment and furnishings

25% of the carrying amount

Building extensions

Using the straight-line method over the contractually agreed useful life of
the property

Machinery, equipment and hardware

Machinery and equipment 30%–40% of the carrying amount/
hardware over 5 years using the straight-line method

Tools

Over 3 years using the straight-line method

Vehicles

40% of the carrying amount

A tangible asset is derecognised either on disposal or when
no economic benefit is expected from the further use or
sale of the asset. The resulting gain or loss from the disposal
of the asset is determined as the difference between the
net proceeds from the sale and the carrying amount of the
asset, and is recognised in the income statement under
other net operating income in the period in which the asset
was derecognised.
Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are
reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted as
appropriate.

Fixed assets held under finance leases
Lease contracts, which effectively constitute assets
purchased with appropriate financing, are classified as
finance leases. Investment properties financed via such lease
contracts are recognised either at market value or at the net
present value of future lease rates, whichever is lower. Fixed
assets held under finance leases are depreciated either over
the useful economic life of the asset or over the term of the
lease agreement, whichever is the shorter. Outstanding
leasing liabilities from finance leases are recognised under
current and non-current financial liabilities.

— 74 —

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

are amortised over their estimated useful lives. The Art &
Fragrance Group does not possess any intangible assets
that it has created itself. The individual intangible asset
categories are amortised as follows:

Intangible assets
Intangible assets with a limited useful life
Individually acquired intangible assets are carried at their
acquisition cost on initial recognition. Thereafter, they

Creations

Using the straight-line method over 3 years

Software

Using the straight-line method over 5 years

Licence rights

Licence rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over the contractual term or the
useful life. Amortisation is recognised under licence expenses.

Residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are
reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted as
appropriate.

Financial investments and other financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset have
expired or when the Group has transferred said contractual
rights, including all risks and rewards of ownership.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
Costs related to acquired brands are capitalised and not
amortised (see Note 18). The indefinite useful lives of brands
stem from the fact that brands enjoy and continue to enjoy
over years a high degree of international recognition in the
relevant markets. As such, brand rights are amortised but
must undergo an impairment test annually or whenever
there is an indication that the brand could be impaired. Their
classification as “intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives” is reviewed each year.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in
which they are incurred.
Impairment of non-financial assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group investigates whether
there are reasons to believe that the value of an asset
could be impaired. Should such reasons exist, the Group
estimates the amount that may be recoverable on the asset
in question. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
fair value of the asset less selling costs or the value in use. If
the net carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount on the balance sheet date, it will be
depreciated accordingly.

Impairment of Assets
At every balance sheet closing date, the Group investigates
whether any impairment of the value of a financial asset or of
a group of financial assets has arisen. In the case of financial
instruments recognised at amortised cost, the amount of
the loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and the cash value of expected future
cash flows, discounted by the original effective interest rate.
This impairment loss is included in the income statement.
If there is objective evidence that not all trade accounts
receivable will be received in accordance with the originally
agreed invoice conditions, an impairment will be recognised.
Inventories
Inventories are recognised at the lower of purchase/
production cost and the net realisable value. The net
realisable value is the estimated sales revenue achievable in
the normal course of business operations, less the estimated
costs to be incurred up to completion of production and
the estimated distribution costs required. All costs incurred
in bringing inventories to their current location and placing
them in their current state are recognised in the balance
sheet for raw materials, components, advertising materials,
finished goods and trading goods. Impairments are
recorded for non-saleable goods.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, credit balances
on postal checking and bank accounts, and cash on deposit
with a maturity of less than three months. These are carried
at their nominal value. The “Cash and cash equivalents” item
carried in the consolidated cash flow statement is calculated
according to the above definition and includes short-term
bank liabilities.
Interest-bearing loans
Financial liabilities are first recorded as soon as the Group
has entered into a contract. Upon initial recognition,
the financial liabilities are carried at the amount of the
consideration received, minus any transaction costs. They
are subsequently measured at their amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. A financial liability is
derecognised when it is paid off, rescinded or has expired.
Provisions
Provisions are created when the Group has a current (legal
or constructive) obligation arising from a past event, when
an outflow of economic resources to meet the obligation
is probable and when the amount of the obligation can be
estimated reliably. If the interest effect from discounting
is material, provisions are discounted at a gross (i.e. pretax) interest rate that, where required according to the
circumstances, reflects the risks specific to the debt. The
provisions are measured on the basis of best estimates,
taking into account the material risks and uncertainties.
Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities for which an outflow of resources is
not regarded as probable are not recorded in the balance
sheet. However, the contingent liabilities existing as at the
balance sheet date are disclosed in the Notes.

Pension plans
Besides statutory social insurance, the companies of the
Art & Fragrance Group maintain various employee benefit
plans in accordance with the local regulations and customs
in the respective countries. These are funded either by
means of contributions to legally independent foundations
and establishments or by recognition as provision for
employee benefit plans in the accounts of the relevant
companies.
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect
of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of
the defined benefit obligation on the balance sheet date,
less the added value of the plan assets. The present value
of the defined benefit obligation is calculated annually
by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate
bonds which have terms to maturity approximating the
average duration of the related pension liability.
The pension expense item consists of the following
three components: service cost, net interest result and
remeasurement of the pension plan. Service cost is
attributable to salaries and wages and comprises current
service cost and unrecognised past service cost arising
from changes to, or curtailment/settlement of a plan. Net
interest result is disclosed in the financial result and is
calculated by multiplying the net defined benefit pension
liability or net pension plan assets existing at the start of
the year by the discount rate. Actuarial gains and losses
arising from changes/adjustments to previous actuarial
assumptions are credited or debited immediately to other
comprehensive income as pension remeasurements.
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Income taxes
Effective tax liabilities, and any claims for reimbursement of
tax paid for the current period and earlier periods, are valued
at the amount at which a payment to or reimbursement from
the tax authorities is expected. This amount is calculated
on the basis of the tax rates and legislation in place on the
balance sheet date.

Financial risk management
As an internationally oriented company, the Art & Fragrance
group is exposed to the following financial risks, which are
assessed on an ongoing basis and hedged where necessary.
In addition to credit and liquidity risk, the Group’s assets and
liabilities are also subject to risks from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method.
Deferred taxes take account of the income tax effects of the
differences in value between the internal Group and local
fiscal valuation guidelines for assets and liabilities. Deferred
taxes are calculated at the respective local tax rates.

The policy of the Group is to avoid speculative deals
involving financial instruments and to strive for maturity
matching where possible.

Any tax loss carry-forwards and tax credits that can be
applied for tax purposes are only recognised as deferred tax
credits to the extent that it is probable that the future profit
will be sufficient to realise tax loss carry-forwards and tax
credits. Each year, the company assesses the un-recognised
tax loss carry-forwards and the carrying amount of the
deferred tax assets as at the balance sheet date.
Current and deferred taxes are credited or charged directly
to equity or to comprehensive income if the taxes relate to
items that were credited or charged directly to equity or to
comprehensive income in the current or a different period.

Credit risk
Credit risk applies primarily to receivables (customers)
resulting from as yet unsettled transactions. Significant
concentration risk does not exist due to the nature of the
Art & Fragrance Group’s customer portfolio. Certain trade
receivables are hedged by means of a credit insurance
policy or by the agreement of specific payment conditions.
In addition, receivables are constantly monitored.
With regard to trade accounts receivable and the Group’s
other financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables, the maximum credit risk corresponds
to the carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet.
Trade accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing and
generally with maturity between 0 and 90 days, and up to
150 days in special cases, depending on the customer.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity is monitored and controlled at Group level on an
ongoing basis. In addition, liquidity trends are anticipated in
order to respond quickly in the case of a surplus or shortfall.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash fows.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

MATURING IN
LESS THAN
1 YEAR

Financial assets and liabilities can be allocated based on the
following maturities:

MATURING MATURING IN
IN > 1 YEAR, MORE THAN
< 5 YEARS
5 YEARS

2015
TOTAL

MATURING IN MATURING IN MATURING IN
LESS THAN
> 1 YEAR, MORE THAN
1 YEAR
< 5 YEARS
5 YEARS

2014
TOTAL

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

13 937

–

–

13 937

10 886

–

–

10 886

Trade accounts receivable

20 296

–

–

20 296

12 993

–

–

12 993

4 957

–

–

4 957

6 031

–

–

6 031

39 190

–

–

39 190

29 910

–

–

29 910

Bank liabilities 1

47 452

–

–

47 452

29 689

–

–

29 689

Trade accounts payable

14 561

–

–

14 561

11 719

–

–

11 719

Other current liabilities

15 761

–

–

15 761

16 833

–

–

16 833

2 044

6 327

18 615

26 986

187

9 065

16 758

26 010

–

13 030

184

13 214

–

12 158

1 708

13 866

79 818

19 357

18 799

117 974

58 428

21 223

18 466

98 117

Other receivables
Total
Liabilities

Loans from the principal
shareholder 2
Other non-current liabilities
Total
1

2

This is a loan on our current account. The securities granted ensure steady albeit long-term amortisation of the bank liability and, for this reason,
liquidity risk is not expected.
Two loans from shareholders amounting to EUR 7.390 million and EUR 18.476 million (CHF 20 million) respectively existed at the end of 2015.
The principal shareholder has declared the loan of EUR 18.476 million to be subordinate to the bank liability. The loan of EUR 18.476 million was
arranged for an indefinite period of time. For this reason, only the expected interest payments for a period of 1 year were reported under
“Maturing in more than five years”.
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Currency risk
The Art & Fragrance Group operates around the world and
is therefore exposed to currency risks in various currencies,
especially with regard to the Swiss franc, the pound
sterling and the US dollar. As in the previous year, the risk
as at 31 December 2015 largely involved the Group’s trade
accounts payable and receivable, which are partly based on
transactions in foreign currencies and to a lesser extent on
IN EUR THOUSANDS

cash and cash equivalents and bank liabilities. The Group
monitors its transaction-related foreign currency risks and,
where necessary, concludes currency hedges in order to
manage the risks inherent in assets, liabilities and expected
transactions.
Financial assets and liabilities can be allocated based on the
following categories and currencies:
201 5
TOTAL

EUR

CHF

USD

GBP

OTHER

2014
TOTAL

13 937

3 827

690

3 270

2 306

793

10 886

20 296

7 740

1 129

3 686

93

345

12 993

608

359

1 406

6 031

7 564

2 758

2 544

29 910

EUR

CHF

USD

GBP

OTHER

Cash and cash
equivalents

2 474

3 538

4 660

2 249

1 016

Trade accounts
receivable

9 516

2 497

7 314

491

478

440

431

210

985

4 957

3 294

364

6 475 12 405

2 950

2 479

39 190

14 861

2 183

Assets

Other receivables
Total

2 891
14 881

Liabilities
–

1 437

880

47 452

3 752 24 416

–

1 141

380

29 689

Trade accounts
payable

9 522

2 508

1 034

1 101

396

14 561

7 241

1 346

790

699

1 643

11 719

Other current liabilities

7 448

11 319

1 670

1 356

823

1 665

16 833

– 24 950

–

–

–

24 950

27

1 579

61

–

13 866

34 511 52 409

3 725

2 724

3 688

97 057

Bank liabilities

Loans from the
principal shareholder
Other non-current
liabilities
Total

20 423 24 712

4 949

1 651

443

1 270

15 761

– 25 867

–

–

–

25 867

32 11 210

1 899

73

–

13 214

37 425 69 246

4 584

3 054

2 546 116 855
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12 199

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no currency hedges
(forward transactions) to safeguard future cash flows. The
same applied as at 31 December 2014.
A change in the CHF/EUR exchange rate of +/– 5% in 2015
would have had an impact on the Group’s profit before
tax and equity of EUR +/– 3.260 million (2014: EUR +/–
2.511 million) while a change in the USD/EUR exchange rate
of +/– 5 % in 2015 would have had an impact of EUR +/–
397,000 (2014: EUR +/– 192,000), and a change in the GBP/
EUR exchange rate of +/– 5% in 2015 would have affected
figures by EUR +/– 33,000 (2014: EUR +/– 2,000).
Interest rate risk
The risk of fluctuation of market interest rates as at the
end of 2015, which the Art & Fragrance Group is subject to,
largely resulted from cash and cash equivalents and bank
liabilities. The Art & Fragrance Group is exposed to interest
risks above all in Swiss francs and euro. Management of
interest rates in connection with non-current liabilities is
performed centrally; short-term Interest rate risk is not
normally hedged.

Sensitivity analysis: Interest rate risk is modelled via
sensitivity analyses, which show the effect changes in market
interest rates would have on interest income and expense
and on equity, provided that all other parameters remain
constant. If the market interest rate on 31 December 2015
had been 1 percentage point higher or lower, the Group’s
financial result or equity would have been EUR 262,000
(2014: EUR 189,000) lower or higher.
Capital management
The overriding aim of capital management in the Art &
Fragrance Group is to maintain an adequate equity base
to retain investor, customer and market confidence and
to support the future development of the core business.
Dividend policy, return of capital and if necessary capital
increases are used to maintain or adjust the equity structure.
The Group’s own target for share of equity in the balance
sheet total before non-controlling interests was set at
25–35%.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

Share capital

31.1 2.2014

816

816

7 782

7 782

Retained earnings/other reserves

69 010

58 997

Total equity before non-controlling interests

77 608

67 595

221 322

193 102

35%

35%

Capital reserves

TOTAL CAPITAL
Equity ratio
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Fair values
The fair value of a financial asset or liability is the value for
which the relevant instrument could currently be sold or
replaced. The following methods are used to calculate fair
value:
• As at 31 December 2015, the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, short-term bank liabilities, trade accounts
receivable and payable, current financial liabilities, other
receivables and other current liabilities corresponded to
their carrying values.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

• Non-current, fixed-interest financial investments and
liabilities are measured on the basis of the interest rates
and risk factors in order to take account of anticipated
defaults on the payment of these receivables. On
31 December 2015, the carrying amounts did not differ
significantly from the respective fair values.
The table below shows the differences between the carrying
amounts and the fair values of financial instruments on
31 December 2015. Where an item’s carrying amount is the
same as its fair value, the latter is not shown separately in
the table.

CARRYING
AMOUNT

201 5
FAIR VALUE

CARRYING
AMOUNT

2014
FAIR VALUE

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

13 937

–

10 886

–

Trade accounts receivable

20 296

–

12 993

–

Other receivables
Total

4 957

–

6 031

–

39 190

–

29 910

–

Liabilities
Bank liabilities

47 452

–

29 689

–

Trade accounts payable

14 561

–

11 719

–

Other current liabilities

15 761

–

16 833

–

Loans from the principal shareholder

25 867

–

24 950

–

Other non–current liabilities
Total

13 214

–

13 866

–

116 855

–

97 057

–
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Fair-value hierarchy
Art & Fragrance uses the following hierarchy to determine
and disclose the fair values of its financial instruments,
depending on the valuation method:
• Level 1: Listed (unadjusted) prices on active markets for
similar assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: Other methods using inputs which significantly
affect the fair value and are based on data that can be
observed directly or indirectly on the market.
• Level 3: Methods using inputs which significantly affect
the fair value and are not based on observable market
data.
Assets and liabilities at Fair Value:
IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

3

–

3

–

31.1 2.2014

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

23

–

23

–

Other current liabilities
IN EUR THOUSANDS

Other current liabilities
This is an interest rate swap carried under “Other current liabilities”.
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3. SEGMENT REPORTING
At the beginning of 2015, the previous segmentation
by product (perfume, cosmetics, crystal and jewellery)
was changed to brands (Lalique, Ultrasun, Jaguar, Grès,
other brands) so that the reporting structure reflects the
marketing and personnel synergies and the expanded
activities of Lalique (crystal, jewellery, interior design,
perfumes, art, co-branding, restaurants and hotels).
The figures for 2014 have been adjusted accordingly for
comparative purposes.
Segment 1—Lalique
The Lalique segment comprises all business transactions
conducted under the Lalique brand.

Segment 3 — Jaguar
The Jaguar segment covers the Jaguar brand.
Segment 4 — Grès
The Grès segment covers the Grès brand.
Segment 5 — Other brands
The other brands segment covers the brands Samouraï,
Bentley, Art & Fragrance Services, Art & Fragrance
Distribution and Alain Delon.
Segment 6— Holding and eliminations
The holding company generates revenue from management
fees charged to the other segments. Intra-Group
transactions are handled on an arm’s-length basis.

Segment 2—Ultrasun
The Ultrasun segment covers the Ultrasun brand.
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Segment reporting for the financial year 2015
The table below contains information on the revenues and results, and on the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
business segments.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

HOLDING
AND
ELIM. 2

GROUP

9 968

122

126 502

4 455

–5 762

–

7 321

14 423

–5 640

126 502

2 073

783

–320

11 495

LALIQUE

ULTRASUN

JAGUAR

GRÈS

OTHER
BRANDS1

85 180

10 580

13 513

7 139

1 097

–20

48

182

86 277

10 560

13 561

4 168

1 771

3 020

Operating revenue
Revenue from sales to external customers
Revenue from transactions with other segments
Total operating revenue
EBIT
Financial result

–1 855

Group profit before taxes

9 640

Income tax expenses

–1 153

NET GROUP PROFIT

8 487

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets

163 266

16 613

10 991

12 176

18 297

–21

221 322

Segment liabilities

108 247

4 412

6 503

3 320

18 104

454

141 040

Other segment information
Investments
Property, plant and equipment

35 283

24

192

140

5 283

1 392

42 314

Intangible assets

44 098

10 402

966

6 082

2 875

106

64 529

4 936

25

120

27

794

4

5 906

368

15

39

5

56

3

486

Depreciation and amortisation
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
1

2

Operating revenue other brands
Parfums Samouraï
Bentley Fragrances
Art & Fragrance Distribution
Art & Fragrance Services
Total Operating revenue other brands

5 275
3 346
880
4 922
14 423

The “Holding + Elim.” segment covers the holding and management companies, and eliminations. The segement’s assets mainly include cash and cash
equivalents, long-term receivables of the holding and management companies, and eliminations between the segements. Segment liabilites mainly
comprise current liabilities, loans and eliminations.
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Segment reporting for the financial year 2014
The table below contains information on the revenues and results, and on the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
business segments.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

HOLDING
AND
ELIM. 2

GROUP

6 671

–41

111 242

4 638

–5 387

–

6 816

11 309

–5 428

111 242

1 222

1 024

–451

5 518

LALIQUE

ULTRASUN

JAGUAR

GRÈS

OTHER
BRANDS1

76 117

9 220

12 446

6 829

803

–11

–30

–13

76 920

9 209

12 416

390

1 585

1 748

Operating revenue
Revenue from sales to external customers
Revenue from transactions with other segments
Total operating revenue
EBIT
Financial result

733

Group profit before taxes

6 251

Income tax expenses

–936

NET GROUP PROFIT

5 315

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

144 691

14 638

8 693

10 227

16 866

–2 013

193 102

93 035

3 880

3 817

1 655

14 886

5 423

122 696

Other segment information
Investments
Property, plant and equipment

26 485

37

163

19

5 364

99

32 167

Intangible assets

43 066

9 172

1 298

5 468

2 088

62

61 154

4 559

10

93

15

602

4

5 283

240

7

37

2

32

3

321

Depreciation and amortisation
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
1

2

Operating revenue per perfume brand
Parfums Samouraï
Bentley Fragrances
Art & Fragrance Services
Total Operating revenue other brands

4 217
2 102
4 990
11 309

The “Holding + Elim.” segment covers the holding and management companies, and eliminations. The segement’s assets mainly include cash and cash
equivalents, long-term receivables of the holding and management companies, and eliminations between the segements. Segment liabilites mainly
comprise current liabilities, loans and eliminations.
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Geographical regions
Geographical information pertaining to segment income is broken down by customer location.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

201 5

2014

USA

27 417

19 695

UK

19 140

19 141

France

14 831

16 187

UAE

11 503

9 331

Hongkong

8 611

7 684

Japan

6 833

5 366

Germany

5 281

4 696

Russia

3 773

3 629

Switzerland

3 105

2 667

Israel

1 331

2 624

Singapore

2 918

2 605

China

2 977

1 580

18 782

16 037

126 502

111 242

Revenue from sales to external customers

Other countries
Group

Geographical information pertaining to non-current assets comprises property, plant & equipment, intangible assets and
other non-current assets.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

France

81 605

70 079

Switzerland

31 124

28 452

2 593

2 352

Hongkong

567

679

China

343

362

UK

233

295

Germany

16

106

Singapore

58

106

116 539

102 431

Non-current assets

USA

Group
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DETAILS ON THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
4. NET REVENUE FROM SALES OF GOODS AND SERVICES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Gross revenue
Revenue reductions
TOTAL NET REVENUE

201 5

2014

130 523

109 409

–7 592

–6 007

122 931

103 402

Revenue reductions relate primarily to discounts. Revenue per segment, including other operating income, is disclosed in
the segment reporting.

5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Other operating income
Licence income/royalties

201 5

2014

2 851

7 017

720

823

3 571

7 840

201 5

2014

Cost of components and finished goods

37 148

32 156

Other directly apportionable production costs

TOTAL OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Other operating income mainly comprises income from service agreements.

6. MATERIAL COSTS, LICENSES AND THIRD-PARTY SERVICES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

10 271

9 653

Licence expenses

1 346

1 388

Commission expenses

1 829

1 275

Other procurement costs

1 433

2 083

52 027

46 555

TOTAL MATERIAL COSTS, LICENCES AND THIRD-PARTY SERVICES

Other directly apportionable production costs mainly comprise wages and salaries of the production staff at the factory in
Wingen. Licence expenses arise mainly in connection with Jaguar Fragrances and Bentley Fragrances. Commission expenses
relate to the mediation of transactions. The item “Other procurement costs” includes costs that are incurred in connection with
receipt and shipment of goods to/from stock, customs and freight charges relating to purchasing, and lithography and plating
costs, net of any supplier discounts.
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7. PERSONNEL COSTS

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Wages and salaries (incl. bonuses)
Social insurance and employee pension/welfare expenses

201 5

2014

16 815

17 487

9 383

5 846

Other personnel costs

334

311

26 532

23 644

597

557

201 5

2014

Administrative expenses

4 799

5 167

Advertising and promotional expenses

6 976

7 190

10 555

8 588

Vehicles

182

139

Property insurance, levies and charges

598

686

6 946

8 151

30 056

29 921

TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS
Number of staff as at 31 December (in positions)

8. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Rental expenses

Miscellaneous operating expenses
TOTAL OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The item “Miscellaneous operating expenses” includes travel expenses (EUR 2.167 million; 2014: EUR 2.270 million), expenses
for creations (EUR 229,000; 2014: EUR 329,000) and various other costs.
Operating lease
Maturity structure of off-balance-sheet liabilities from operating lease contracts:
in EUR thousands

31.12.2015

Maturing within 1 year
Maturing between 1 and 5 years
Maturing in more than 5 years
TOTAL

7 009

5 760

14 790

12 646

1 778

796

23 577

19 202

Expenses for operating leasing recognised in the 2015 income statement amount to EUR 9.545 million
(2014: EUR 7.712 million)
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9. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

201 5

2014

Financial income
Interest on loans and advance financing1

1

6

Income from exchange rate fluctuations1

3 647

3 072

Other financial income1
Total financial income

20

40

3 668

3 118

Financial expenses
Expenses from exchange rate fluctuations1
Interest on loans and short-term financial liabilities2

4 310

945

467

629

Other financial expenses1

746

811

Total financial expenses

5 523

2 385

–1 855

733

201 5

2014

1 532

992

FINANCIAL RESULT
The corresponding items originate from the following categories of financial instrument:		
1
Loans and receivables			
2
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

10. INCOME TAXES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Current year income taxes
Income taxes from previous years
Deferred tax income/expenses resulting from change in temporary differences
Deferred tax expenses resulting from change in tax rates
TOTAL INCOME TAX
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–491

156

112

–233

–

21

1 153

936

The following breakdown shows a reconciliation of the expected and actual tax expenses calculated at the tax rates
applicable to the Group.

IN EUR THOUSANDS

201 5

2014

Group profit before taxes

9 640

6 251

Expected tax rate

15,6%

21,1%

Expected tax expenses

1 506

1 322

Non–deductible expenses

1 580

134

Fiscal effect of revenues taxed at different rates

–37

–46

Unrecognised losses from the current financial year

398

341

–1 959

–659

Offsetting of unrecognised loss carry–forwards from previous financial years
Income taxes from previous years
Other effects
TOTAL INCOME TAX

–491

156

156

–312

1 153

936

The item “Expected tax rate” is a result of the weighted Group earnings, taking all Group companies into account.
In Switzerland, tax losses incurred over the seven preceding financial years may be carried forward to the current accounting
period. As at 31 December 2015, such losses amounted to CHF 7.786 million (2014: CHF 7.895 million), of which CHF 136,000
expire at the end of 2016, CHF 712,000 at the end of 2017, CHF 1.892 million at the end of 2018, CHF 481,000 at the end of
2019, CHF 1.645 million at the end of 2020, CHF 1.908 million the end of 2021 and end of 2022 CHF 1.012 million. In total, as
at 31 December 2015, tax benefits amounting to CHF 340,000 (2014: CHF 533,000) were recognised on losses incurred in
Switzerland, of which CHF 56,000 expire at the end of 2019, CHF 229,000 at the end of 2020 and CHF 55,000 at the end of
2021.
In France, tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. As at 31 December 2015, such losses amounted to EUR 20.556 million
(2014: EUR 21.813 million). Since the 2012 financial year, it has been the case that losses carried forward from previous years can
be offset against only 50 % (previously 60 %) of profits in excess of EUR 1 million. In total, as at 31 December 2015, tax benefits
amounting to CHF 1.288 million (2014: EUR 1.394 million) were recognised on losses incurred in France.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DIVIDENDS
201 5

2014

5 000 000

Total number of shares issued

Number

5 000 000

Average number of treasury shares held

Number

3 211

2 244

Average number of shares in circulation

Number

4 996 789

4 997 756

EUR thousands

8 653

5 721

EUR

1.73

1.14

Net Group profit in favour of shareholders of Art & Fragrance SA
EARNINGS PER SHARE BASIC/DILUTED

No dividends were paid for the financial years 2009 to 2014. With respect to the financial year 2015 the board of directors
proposes a dividend payment of CHF 0.50 per share, whereas the principal shareholder waives the right of dividend payment
for his 4 250 000 shares hold.
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DETAILS ON THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM BANK LIABILITES
IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

Cash

194

92

Bank

13 743

10 794

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

13 937

10 886

BANK LIABILITIES

–47 452

–29 689

BALANCE OF NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

–33 515

–18 803

Interest earned on assets denominated in CHF, EUR, GBP and USD was 0.00%. Interest charged on liabilities in CHF,
USD and GBP was 0.65%, those on liabilities in EUR between 0.65% and 1.61%.

13. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Trade accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing and generally fall due between 0 and 90 days, and up to 150 days in
special cases, depending on the customer. If, in the case of trade accounts receivable, there is objective evidence to suggest
that Art & Fragrance will not be in a position to receive all amounts in accordance with the original terms and conditions, an
impairment will be recognised.
TOTAL OUTSTANDING
ITEMS

NOT DUE

DUE

OF WHICH
DUE WITHIN
60 DAYS

of which EUR

9 450

8 027

1 423

948

371

104

of which CHF accounts shown in EUR

2 495

2 188

307

75

3

229

of which USD accounts shown in EUR

7 631

4 921

2 710

2 174

31

505

of which other currencies shown in EUR

1 159

991

168

124

5

39

Allowance for doubtful debts

–439

–

–439

–

–

–439

20 296

16 127

4 169

3 321

410

438

of which EUR

7 804

6 902

902

603

28

271

of which CHF accounts shown in EUR

1 096

1 050

46

42

–

4

of which USD accounts shown in EUR

3 831

3 092

739

483

42

214

IN EUR THOUSANDS

OF WHICH
OF WHICH
OVERDUE OVERDUE MORE
61–90 DAYS
THAN 91 DAYS

2015

Total
2014

of which other currencies shown in EUR
Allowance for doubtful debts
Total

414

386

28

13

–

15

–152

–

–152

–

–

–152

12 993

11 430

1 563

1 141

70

352
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Allowance on trade receivables developed as follows:
IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

Opening balance

152

267

Formation (+)

323

89

Usage (–)

–57

–219

Currency effect
CLOSING BALANCE

21

15

439

152

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

25 493

26 823

14. INVENTORIES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Components and raw materials
Advertising materials
Finished goods
Advance payments
TOTAL INVENTORIES

2 990

2 419

32 129

27 896

420

504

61 032

57 642

Impairments on inventories recognised as expenditure amounted to EUR 623,000 in 2015 (2014: EUR 445,000).

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

Receivables from VAT claims

4 561

3 119

Accrued income and prepaid expenses

2 970

1 528

Deferred tax assets

32

113

Other receivables

1 955

4 390

TOTAL OTHER RECEIVABLES

9 518

9 150

For the most part, other receivables consist of security deposits for future operating expenses.

16. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other non-current assets comprise a collection of perfume flacons, drawings, and other collectables of the Lalique brand
produced by company founder Rene Lalique.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Acquisition costs 01.01.2014
Additions
Reclassification/transfers
Disposals
Exchange differences

LAND,
BUILDINGS

EQUIPMENT,
FURNISHINGS

MACHINERY +
EQUIPMENT, IT,
HARDWARE,
TOOLS

VEHICLES

PLANT UNDER
CONSTRUCTION

TOTAL
PROPERTY,
PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

31 558

14 259

12 097

181

1 332

59 427

2 746

1 385

1 930

42

3 064

9 167

774

85

48

–

–973

– 66

–711

–506

–224

–

–653

–2 094

1 002

241

265

3

14

1 525

35 369

15 464

14 116

226

2 784

67 959

9 132

4 545

1 118

77

2 232

17 104

–

77

–

–

–

77

2 139

–

–

–

–2 143

–4

Disposals

–1 075

–427

–

–

–485

–1 987

Deconsolidated

–1 100

–

–

–

–148

–1 248

956

345

861

22

– 14

2 170

45 421

20 004

16 095

325

2 226

84 071

–13 567

–7 880

–8 832

–176

–

–30 455

–2 604

–1 490

–1 182

–8

–

–5 284

8

–

–

–

–

8

1 082

328

–

–

–

1 410

Acquisition costs 31.12.2014
Additions 1
Additions from business combinations
Reclassification/transfers

Exchange differences
Acquisition costs 31.12.2015
Depreciation, cumulative 01.01.2014
Additions
Reclassification/transfers
Disposals
Exchange differences
Depreciation, cumulative 31.12.2014
Addition
Reclassification/transfers
Disposals
Exchange differences

–1 081

–140

–247

–3

–

–1 471

–16 162

–9 182

–10 261

–187

–

–35 792

–2 886

–1 601

–1 367

–48

–

–5 902

–1

–

122

–

–

121

1 062

271

–

–

–

1 333

–659

–198

–641

–19

–

–1 517

–18 646

–10 710

–12 147

–254

–

–41 757

NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT 31.12.2015

26 775

9 294

3 948

71

2 226

42 314

Net property, plant and
equipment 31.12.2014

19 207

6 282

3 855

39

2 784

32 167

Depreciation, cumulative 31.12.2015

1	The additions of EUR 17.104 million (2014: EUR 9.167 million) resulted in a cash outflow of EUR 14.948 million (2014: EUR 8.440 million).
The total depreciation in 2015 of EUR 5.902 million (2014: EUR 5.284 million) did not include any impairment costs.

No items of property, plant and equipment serve as collateral for obligations.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GOODWILL

BRANDS

LICENCE
RIGHTS

CREATIONS

SOFTWARE

TOTAL
INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

Acquisition costs 01.01.2014

–

58 249

2 821

1 659

3 454

66 183

Additions

–

–

6

135

222

363

Disposals

–

–

–4

–

–

–4

Exchange differences

–

414

54

37

73

578

Acquisition costs 31.12.2014

–

58 663

2 877

1 831

3 749

67 120

IN CHF THOUSANDS

–

–

7

507

912

1 426

380

–

–

–

–

380

Disposals

–

–

–

–

–2

–2

Deconsolidated

–

–

–6

–

–

–6

Exchange differences

–

2 425

317

196

113

3 051

380

61 088

3 195

2 534

4 772

71 969

Additions2
Additions from business combinations

Acquisition costs 31.12.2015
Amortisation, cumulative 01.01.2014

–

–

–592

–1 185

–3 161

–4 938

Additions1

–

–

–560

–192

–128

–880

Disposals

–

–

–

–

–45

–45

Exchange differences

–

–

–17

–28

–58

–103

Amortisation, cumulative 31.12.2014

–

–

–1 169

–1 405

–3 392

–5 966

Additions1

–

–

–636

–328

–162

–1 126

Disposals

–

–

–

–

2

2

Exchange differences

–

–

–120

–151

–79

–350

Amortisation, cumulative 31.12.2015

–

–

–1 925

–1 884

–3 631

–7 440

NET INTANGIBLE ASSETS 31.12.2015

380

61 088

1 270

650

1 141

64 529

–

58 663

1 708

426

357

61 154

Net intangible assets 31.12.2014

1 The amortisation of licence rights is recorded in licence expenses.
2 The additions of EUR 1.426 million (2014: EUR 363,000) resulted in a cash outflow of EUR 1.097 million (2014: EUR 114,000).
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Brands
Brand values as at 31 December 2015: Parfums Grès CHF
6.574 million (2014: CHF 6.574 million), Parfums Samouraï
CHF 1.800 million (2014: CHF 1.800 million), Ultrasun CHF
11.000 million (2014: CHF 11.000 million), Lalique EUR
43.199 million (2014: EUR 42.551 million).
The discounted cash flow method was used to test the
various brand values for impairment. The calculation was
based on the assumptions listed below. The latter include
planning assumptions made over a maximum period of five
years, and a residual value. The residual value incorporates

a growth rate of 1.5% for Ultrasun, Lalique and Parfums
Samouraï and 1.0% for Parfums Grès. In the case of Ultrasun,
it has been assumed that the EBITDA margin will rise from
17.1% in 2015 to 18.5% in 2020. With regard to Lalique, it
has been assumed that the EBITDA margin will rise from
10.7% in 2015 to 13.6% in 2020. These assumptions were
determined by management based on its expectations
for future market development. In the event of significant
changes in the basic data used, utility values may differ from
the carrying amounts indicated.

AVERAGE GROWTH IN SALES1

AFTER-TAX DISCOUNT RATE

IN %

201 5

2014

201 5

2014

Lalique

4.2

see 2

9.3

9.5

Ultrasun

2.1

2.3

9.0

9.3

–0.2

1.5

6.0

6.0

4.8

0.0

6.0

6.0

Parfums Grès
Parfums Samouraï

1 Calculated over the planning horizon of five years.
2 In the previous year the assumed growth rate of Lalique crystal + jewellery was 7.4% and for Lalique Parfums it was 3.3%.

— 95 —

Sensitivity
At Lalique, the brand value would only be diminished
in the event of a negative change in sales growth of
4.9 percentage points, a negative change in the EBITDA
margin of 1.5 percentage points or an increase in the
discount rate of 1.7 percentage points. The brand value of
Lalique would be diminished upon a negative change of
sales growth of 0.4 percentage points or EUR 1.244 million,
a negative change in the EBITDA margin of 0.3 percentage
points or EUR 2.632 million or a change in the discount rate
of 0.2 percentage points or EUR 1.824 million.
At Parfums Grès, Parfums Samouraï and Lalique Parfums,
the values in use are greater than the reported net assets,
which would also pertain in the case of significant changes
in the base values applied at the end of 2015 and 2014.
Licence rights
Write-downs in 2015 and in the previous financial year
relate to licence agreements and rights for Jaguar
Fragrances and Bentley Fragrances that are depreciated
over the contractual term or the useful life of the licence
and recognised under licensing expenses. The residual
amortisation period for the both licence rights is two years.

Creations
The item “Creations” comprises expenses incurred through
the commissioning of external designers to create flacons
and packaging, and the associated development costs. The
residual amortisation period is between zero and three years.
In 2015, as in the previous year, there were no extraordinary
write-downs.
Software
The item “Software” consists of purchased IT software
usage licences and the costs of specific customisation of
software. Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over
a useful life of five years.
With the exception of depreciation of new licence rights,
which are recognised under licence expenses, all amortisation
on intangible assets appears under “Depreciation and
amortisation” in the income statement. In 2015, there were no
extraordinary write-downs (2014: EUR 0).
There are no restrictions on the use of intangible assets.
There are no commitments to make further payments or to
take on additional intangible assets. No intangible assets
serve as collateral for obligations.
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19. PENSION SCHEMES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

Defined benefit pension plans

2 515

1 815

Other long-term post-employment benefits

2 252

2 178

TOTAL PENSION FUND LIABILITIES

4 767

3 993

Defined benefit pension plans
There is only a defined benefit pension plan in Switzerland
and this has the following characteristics: The plan is
designed to ensure that current and future contributions
are sufficient to cover future obligations. As defined in
the fund regulations, the employer and the employees
make matching annual contributions. Contributions are
based on an age-related sliding scale which defines the
relevant percentage of an employee’s insured salary in
relation to the insured salary. In accordance with Swiss law,
the pension fund guarantees its insured members vested
benefits which are confirmed each year. Upon retirement,
insured members are entitled to draw their benefits as a
single lump-sum payment, an annuity, or a combination of
both. For the purpose of providing an occupational pension
scheme, Art & Fragrance has joined a collective foundation
in which the assets are invested on a joint basis with other
scheme participants (with the same investment profile). This
collective foundation is what is known as a full insurance
solution. Thus, as at 31 December 2015, 100% of the plan
assets (on 31.12.2014: 100% at AXA Leben AG) were invested
in a collective insurance policy held with Basler Leben AG.
Direct pension entitlements vis-à-vis the insurance company
constitute 100% of the investment. The pension plan
meets legal provisions stipulating the minimum benefits
payable. There were no significant changes, curtailments or
settlements involving the plan during the reporting period.

Other long-term post-employment benefits
In France, there are plans that fall under this category.
These can be described as follows: one plan exists which,
in accordance with the statutory requirements governing
privately held companies, builds up capital which is then
used to pay appropriate compensation to employees when
they leave the company. The benefit payable is based
on years of service, the reference salary, the collective
wage agreement and the circumstances which led to the
employee’s departure. Payment of pensions conforms to
the national collective agreement for hand-made glass
manufacture.
Another plan or regulation exists which, under certain
conditions, entitles specific pension recipients to claim a
supplementary annuity corresponding to 55% of the
beneficiary’s last annual net salary (average salary over the
last three years).
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The table below shows the status of the Swiss pension plan and the amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
on 31 December:
DEFINED BENEFIT
PENSION PLANS
IN EUR THOUSANDS

Present value of defined benefit pension obligation
Fair value of the plan assets
(SHORTFALL)/SURPLUS

OTHER LONG-TERM
POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

–8 216

–6 446

–2 252

–2 178

5 701

4 631

–

–

–2 515

–1 815

–2 252

–2 178

Annual expenditure on pension benefits recognised in wages and salaries breaks down as follows:
IN EUR THOUSANDS

Current service cost
Net interest cost of pension plans
TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES RECOGNISED
IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

201 5

2014

201 5

2014

–503

–327

–129

–100

–22

–25

–

–

–525

–352

–129

–100

Remeasurement of pension plans recognised directly in other comprehensive income breaks down as follows:
IN EUR THOUSANDS

201 5

Actuarial gain/(loss) from the pension obligation
Change in the plan assets (not incl. interest)
TOTAL REMEASUREMENTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2014

201 5

2014

–256

–601

–111

–231

–67

–117

–

–

–323

–718

–111

–231

The change in the present value of the pension obligations and the fair value of the plan assets was as follows:
IN EUR THOUSANDS

Present value of defined benefit pension obligations
on 1 January
Interest expenses
Current service cost

201 5

2014

201 5

2014

–6 446

–5 021

–2 178

–1 884

–88

–128

–

–

–503

–327

–129

–100

Employee contributions

–346

–287

–46

–60

Actuarial gains and losses

–256

–601

–111

–231
97

Contributions/benefits

–122

–28

212

Currency effect

–455

–54

–

–

–8 216

–6 446

–2 252

–2 178

PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION
OBLIGATIONS ON 31 DECEMBER
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IN EUR THOUSANDS

201 5

2014

4 631

4 016

–

–

66

104

–

–

Actuarial losses

–67

–117

–

–

Employer contributions

347

287

–

–

Employee contributions

346

287

–

–

Contributions/benefits

122

–28

–

–

Fair value of the plan assets on 1 January
Interest income from the plan assets

Currency effect
FAIR VALUE OF THE PLAN ASSETS ON 31 DECEMBER

201 5

2014

256

82

–

–

5 701

4 631

–

–

Sensitivity of key actuarial assumptions
Actuarial assumptions are made in respect of the discount rate, future salary trends and life expectancy, and these can be
summarised as follows:
201 5

2014

Discount rate

0.90%

1.20%

Expected rate of salary increase

1.00%

1.00%

BVG2010 GT

BVG2010 GT

Bases used for calculation

Life expectancies

The implications for the defined benefit obligation (DBO)
are as follows:
• A 0.25% increase/decrease in the discount rate would
result in a decrease of EUR 408,000 (–5%)/increase
of EUR 442,000 (+5.4%) in defined benefit pension
obligations.
• A 0.25 % increase/decrease in the expected rate of
salary increase would result in an increase of EUR 76,000
(+0.9%)/decrease of EUR 74,000 (–0.9%) in defined
benefit pension obligations.
• An increase/decrease in life expectancies of one year
would result in an increase of EUR 131,000 (+1,6 %)/
decrease of EUR 150,000 (–1.8 %) in defined benefit
pension obligations.

20. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITES
This item contains above all deferrals arising from goods
received but not yet invoiced by the supplier, and from
social benefits that have yet to be paid.

21. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2015, other non-current liabilities
comprised minimal fees for licence rights owed in respect
of the Jaguar Fragrances and Bentley Fragrances brands,
as well as deferrals in connection with the settlement of
increases in rental payments occurring over the term of the
contract (straight-line accounting).

The average duration of a defined benefit pension
obligation was 17.4 years at the end of the reporting period
(2014: 17.4 years).
Forecasted contributions
The forecasted contributions of the company for the
financial year 2016 amount to EUR 349,000
(2015: EUR 318,000).
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22. PROVISIONS

IN EUR THOUSANDS

OTHER PROVISIONS

TOTAL PROVISIONS

As at 01.01.2014

867

867

Formation

295

295

Reclassification/transfers

–244

–244

Usage

–159

–159

–82

–82

Release
Currency effect
As at 31.12.2014
Formation
Usage
Currency effect
As at 31.12.2015
Of which current
Of which non-current

1

1

678

678

298

298

–578

–578

2

2

400

400

–

–

400

400

As at 31.12.2015, other provisions included provisions for litigation in France arising from job cuts and social administration
audit.

23. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITES

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Loans from the principal shareholder

DUE IN
> 1 YEAR,
< 5 YEARS

DUE IN
MORE THAN
5 YEARS

201 5
TOTAL

DUE IN
> 1 YEAR,
< 5 YEARS

DUE IN
MORE THAN
5 YEARS

2014
TOTAL

5 543

18 476

24 019

8 316

16 634

24 950

Non-current financial liabilities

11 764

183

11 947

10 085

1 708

11 793

TOTAL

17 307

18 659

35 966

18 401

18 342

36 743

The principal shareholder has declared EUR 18 million (2014: CHF 17 million) of the loan to be subordinate to the bank liability.
Loans from the principal shareholder bear interest at a rate of 0.75% (2014: 3.25%).
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24. DEFERRED TAXES
Deferred taxes developed as follows in the year under review and can be attributed to the following items:
IN EUR THOUSANDS

201 5

2014

19 713

19 482

Deferred tax liabilities
Opening balance
Formation (+)/release (–)
Currency translation differences
Closing balance

209

49

471

182

20 393

19 713

of which deferred taxes on balance sheet items:
Current assets
Non-current assets
Debt capital
TOTAL DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

2 151

1 951

19 495

18 838

-1 253

-1 076

20 393

19 713

4 288

3 799

205

460

Deferred tax assets
Opening balance
Formation (+)/release (–)
Currency translation differences

84

29

Closing balance

4 577

4 288

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX ASSETS1

4 577

4 288

NET DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

15 816

15 425

1	
The deferred taxes result from EUR 2.871 million (2014: EUR 2.362 million) time-related valuation differences on the current assets and from
EUR 1.705 million (2014: EUR 1.914 million) recognised tax effects of loss carry-forwards.			

25. EQUITY
Share capital
The share capital amounts to EUR 816,000 (CHF 1 million),
consisting of 5,000,000 registered shares with a nominal
value of CHF 0.20 each. In addition, there is conditional
share capital of CHF 50,000 for an employee incentive plan.

Capital reserves
The capital reserves relate to the acquisition of Parfums
Grès SA and Parfums Samouraï SA in 2007.
Retained earnings and other reserves
These reserves include retained earnings and currency
translation differences. There are non-distributable reserves
in various Group companies.

All registered shares issued are fully paid up and bear equal
rights in all regards.
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26. CONSOLIDATED GROUP AND CHANGES
The Art & Fragrance Group comprises the following companies:
CURRENCY
(THOUSANDS)
COMPANY, HEADQUARTERS, COUNTRY

SHARE CAPITAL

PARTICIPATING INTEREST

201 5

2014

201 5

2014

Holding

Art & Fragrance SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

1 000

1 000

Holding

A&F Management SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

500

500

100%

100%

Lalique Parfums SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

1 000

1 000

100%

100%

Parfums Grès SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

250

250

100%

100%

Parfums Samouraï SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

250

250

100%

100%

Parfums Alain Delon SA, Zollikon, Switzerland1
Jaguar Fragrances SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

100

100

100%

100%

CHF

250

250

100%

100%

Bentley Fragrances SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

250

250

100%

100%

Art & Fragrance Distribution SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

100

100

100%

100%

Art & Fragrance Distribution Sàrl, Ury, France

EUR

100

–

100%

–

Lalique Maison SA, Zollikon, Switzerland1

CHF

100

100

100%

100%

Lalique Art SA, Zollikon, Switzerland1

CHF

100

100

100%

100%

Ultrasun AG, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

250

250

100%

100%

Ultrasun Germany GmbH, Radolfzell, Germany

EUR

77

77

100%

100%

Ultrasun (UK) Ltd., Reigate, U.K.

GBP

10

10

100%

100%

Art & Fragrance Services SASU, Ury, France

EUR

1 503

1 503

100%

100%

SCI du Mont à Grillon, Ury, France

EUR

1

1

100%

100%

Lalique Suisse SA, Zollikon, Switzerland

CHF

100

100

100%

100%

Lalique SA, Paris, France

EUR

34 400

34 400

95%

95%

USD

2 300

2 300

100%

100%
100%

Lalique North America Inc., East Rutherford, NJ, USA
Lalique Ltd., London, U.K.

GBP

2 050

2 050

100%

Lalique Asia Ltd., Hong Kong, China

HKD

8 000

8 000

65%

65%

Lalique Shanghai Ltd, Shanghai, China

CNY

6 115

6 115

100%

100%

Lalique (Xuhui) Ltd, Shanghai, China

CNY

1 000

–

100%

–

SGD

300

300

100%

100%

Lalique GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany

EUR

870

870

100%

100%

Villa René Lalique SAS, Wingen-sur-Moder, France

EUR

10

10

100%

100%

Lalique Crystal Singapore PTE Ltd., Singapore

1 of which paid-in share capital: CHF 50,000 each

The scope of consolidation was extended compared with the previous year, with the newly founded company Art & Fragrance
Distribution Sàrl in Ury, France and the acquisition of Lalique (Xuhui) Ltd in Shanghai, China being added. The company Villa
Hochberg SAS was sold.
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27. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Executive Board
IN EUR THOUSANDS

201 5

2014

Total emoluments and salaries (incl. bonuses and interest) paid to members
of the Board of Directors and Executive Board				

2 049

1 795

Total pension fund contributions paid to members of the Board of Directors
and Executive Board			

116

100

The compensation elements indicated relate to the previous financial year.
Affiliates and shareholders
IN EUR THOUSANDS

31.1 2.1 5

31.1 2.14

TYPE OF TRANSACTION

Liabilities
Members of the Board of Directors of
Art & Fragrance SA
Principal shareholder

18

17 Mont-Blanc resourcing, consulting

8

– Silvio Denz 		

1

– Vignobles Silvio Denz

Loans
Loan from principal shareholder

IN EUR THOUSANDS

25 867

201 5

24 951 Loan

2014 TYPE OF TRANSACTION

Proceeds from:
Affiliates under common control
Principal shareholder
Ermitage Estate AG

22
337

20 Rent, insurance
623 Proceeds from sale of Lalique objects

0

– Sale of Villa Hochberg SAS

Expenditure of:
Principal shareholder

222

803 Interest on loans

1 016

– Wermuth Auktionen, purchase of wine

118

– Vignobles Silvio Denz, purchase of wine

43

– Villa Madura, purchase of wine

8
Members of the Board of Directors

124

– Denz Weine, purchase of wine
101 Mont-Blanc resourcing, consulting

Transactions with related parties are settled on an arm’s-length basis.

— 103 —

28. BUSINESS COMBINATION
As at 30 September 2015, Lalique Shanghai acquired 100% of the shares in Lalique (Xuhui) Ltd, Shanghai, China for the price
of RMB 1.000 million (EUR 141,000). Lalique (Xuhui) Ltd exclusively sells accessories, furniture and art of the Lalique brand. In
that connection, the two companies were already working together prior to the transaction.

FAIR VALUE ON THE
ACQUISITION DATE

IN EUR THOUSANDS

Cash and cash equivalents

35

Other current assets

24

Property, plant and equipment

89

TOTAL ASSETS

148

Current liabilities

380

TOTAL LIABILITIES

380

SUM OF IDENTFIABLE NET ASSETS, MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

–232

Goodwill

373

FAIR VALUE OF THE CONSIDERATION

141

ANALYSIS OF THE CASH OUTFLOW RESULTING FROM THE ACQUISITION
Purchase price (recognised in cash flow from investments)

–141

Acquired cash and cash equivalents (recognised in cash flow investments)
CASH OUTFLOW RESULTING FROM THE ACQUISITION NET

35
–106

The operating income generated since the transaction date amounted to EUR 114,000 and the EBIT was EUR –27,000.
For the financial year 2015 the company generated operating income of EUR 225,000 and an EBIT of EUR –173,000.
The local management expects synergy effects from the business combination in the fields of marketing, client relationship
management, employee planning and stock handling.

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2015, there were no unrecognised
contingent liabilities (31.12.2014: EUR 0).

30. ASSETS PLEDGED OR ASSIGNED TO SECURE OWN
COMMITMENTS
There are no assets pledged or assigned to secure our own
commitments.
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated
financial statements of Art & Fragrance SA, which comprise
the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated balance sheet,
consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and notes (pages 62 to 104) for the
year ended 31 December 2015.
Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control
system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of
Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, Swiss
Auditing Standards and International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion as to the effectiveness
of the internal control system. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015 give a true and fair view of
the financial position, the results of operations and the cash
flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.
Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on
licensing according to the Swiss Audit Oversight Act (AOA)
and independence (Art. 728 of Swiss Code of Obligations
(CO) and Art. 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances
incompatible with our independence.
In accordance with Art. 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and
Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal
control system exists, which has been designed for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements according
to the instructions of the Board of Directors.
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements
submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young AG
Alessandro Miolo
Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)
Nathalie Balett
Licensed audit expert

Zurich, 13 May 2016
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REMUNERATION REPORT

GENERAL INFORMATION/PRINCIPLES

Art and Fragrance strives to attract and retain qualified and
motivated managers and skilled personnel. This aspiration is
underpinned by a fair remuneration system. In the interests
of the sustainable development of the company this system
takes short, medium and long-term targets into account.
The present Remuneration Report offers an overview
of the remuneration policy for the Board of Directors
and the Executive Board, and of the equity participation
of the members of those bodies in the company. This
information complies with Articles 663bbis and 663c of
the Swiss Code of Obligations, the Ordinance against
Excessive Compensation in Listed Corporations (VegüV)
and the company’s Articles of Association. The currently
applicable articles were approved at the General Meeting of
Shareholders on 13 June 2014.

Remuneration rates for the members of the Board of
Directors and the Executive Board have been put to
shareholders for approval for the first time at the General
Meeting of Shareholders on 26 June 2015. No amendments
to the contracts of the Executive Board members nor any
new agreements with members of the Board of Directors
relating to the new legal and statutory requirements have
been necessary.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Composition of directors’ remuneration
The members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed
payment for their work. The Remuneration Committee
can provide for them to receive an optional variable rate
of remuneration. Where a variable remuneration rate is
implemented, it is based on qualitative and quantitative
targets. Evaluating the extent to which these targets are
achieved is the responsibility of the directors themselves.
The variable remuneration rate must not exceed 200% of
the fixed sum.

Members of the Board of Directors receive compensation
for personal expenditure and expenses. The reimbursement
of expenditure and payment of expenses does not count
as remuneration. In addition, where the law permits,
the company can compensate directors for financial
disadvantages relating to legal proceedings, court cases or
settlement deals, and advance sums accordingly and take
out insurance policies. Any such compensation, advances
or insurance policies are similarly not considered as
remuneration.

Bonuses can be paid to members of committees or those
who assume particular roles or tasks.

Approval of directors’ remuneration
The General Meeting of Shareholders approves the
maximum amount of fixed remuneration for the Board of
Directors for the period up to the next General Meeting of
Shareholders.

With regard to activities in companies directly or indirectly
controlled by Art & Fragrance and activities performed in
the exercise of the role of member of the Board of Directors,
the company concerned may remunerate directors as long
as this remuneration is covered by the amount approved by
the General Meeting of Shareholders. The fixed remuneration
sum can be paid in part in shares, and the variable
remuneration in part or in full in shares.

The General Meeting of Shareholders approves the total
amount of variable remuneration for the Board of Directors
for the previous financial year.

Total remuneration for members of the Board of Directors
SALARIES
FEES,
BONUSES

IN CHF THOUSANDS

PENSION FUND
CONTRIBUTIONS
PAID

OTHER
SOCIAL
CHARGES

TOTAL

2015
Silvio Denz

President of the Board of Directors

201

–

24

225

Roger von der Weid

Delegate of the Board of Directors & CEO

609

42

42

693

Roland Weber

Vice-president of the Board of Directors

25

–

2

27

Marc Roesti

Member of the Board of Directors

25

–

–

25

Claudio Denz

Member of the Board of Directors & CD

Total Board of Directors

167

6

12

185

1 027

48

80

1 155

2014
Silvio Denz

President of the Board of Directors

206

–

25

231

Roger von der Weid

Delegate of the Board of Directors & CEO

609

33

41

683

Roland Weber

Vice-president of the Board of Directors

25

–

2

27

Marc Roesti

Member of the Board of Directors

25

–

–

25

Claudio Denz

Member of the Board of Directors & CD

Total Board of Directors
No remuneration was paid to former members of the Board of Directors.
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160

7

11

178

1 025

40

79

1 144

REMUNERATION REPORT

REMUNERATION FOR THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

Composition of remuneration for the Executive Board
The members of the Executive Board receive a fixed annual
remuneration sum and variable remuneration for their work.
The variable remuneration rate is based on qualitative and
quantitative targets. Evaluating the extent to which these
targets are achieved is the responsibility of the Board of
Directors. The variable remuneration rate must not exceed
100% of the fixed sum.
Bonuses can be paid to members of committees or those
who assume particular roles or tasks.
With regard to activities in companies directly or indirectly
controlled by Art & Fragrance and activities performed in
the exercise of the role of member of the Executive Board,
the company concerned may remunerate Executive Board
members as long as this remuneration is covered by the
amount approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
The variable remuneration sum can be paid in part or in full
in shares.
Members of the Executive Board receive compensation for
personal expenditure and expenses. The reimbursement of
expenditure and the payment of expenses does not count
as remuneration. In addition, where the law permits, the

company can compensate Executive Board members for
financial disadvantages relating to legal proceedings, court
cases or settlement deals, and advance sums accordingly
and take out insurance policies. Any such compensation,
advances or insurance policies are similarly not considered
as remuneration.
Approval for remuneration for the Executive Board
The General Meeting of Shareholders approves the
maximum amount of fixed remuneration for the Board of
Directors for the period up to the next General Meeting of
Shareholders.
The General Meeting of Shareholders approves the total
amount of the variable remuneration for the Board of
Directors for the previous financial year.
Where new Executive Board members are appointed
subsequent to the approval being given by the General
Meeting of Shareholders, the supplementary pro rata sum
per new member is 150% of the highest fixed remuneration
paid to an Executive Board member in the financial year
preceding the last General Meeting of Shareholders.
Approval by the shareholders for the supplementary
remuneration is not required.

Total remuneration to members of the Executive Board
SALARIES
FEES, BONUSES

PENSION FUND
CONTRIBUTIONS
PAID

OTHER
SOCIAL
CHARGES

TOTAL

Members of the Executive Board

1 161

76

82

1 319

Total Executive Board1

1 161

76

82

1 319

Members of the Executive Board

1 155

81

83

1 319

Total Executive Board1

1 155

81

83

1 319

IN CHF THOUSANDS

2015

2014

1 Excl. Roger von der Weid, Delegate of the BoD and CEO, and Claudio Denz, Member of the BoD and Creative Director

No remuneration was paid to former members of the Executive Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee makes proposals to the Board
of Directors for both quantitative and qualitative targets
and for their achievement by directors and Executive
Board members and with regard to the remuneration rates
for directors and Executive Board members, within the
framework of the conditions set out above.

At the General Meeting of Shareholders of 26 June 2015,
shareholders elected respectively confirmed the members
of the Remuneration Committee. They are Silvio Denz
and Roger von der Weid. The members were elected for a
period of office of one year. The Remuneration Committee
is responsible for regularly checking and evaluating
the company's remuneration system. In addition, the

SHAREHOLDINGS OF THE MANAGEMENT
BODIES
As of 31 December 2015, the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board held the following numbers
of shares:
NAME

FUNCTION

31.1 2.201 5

IN %

31.1 2.2014

IN %

85.00%

Silvio Denz

President of the Board of Directors

4 250 000

85.00%

4 250 000

Roger von der Weid

Delegate of the Board of Directors & CEO

3 000

0.06%

3 000

0.06%

Roland Weber

Vice-president of the Board of Directors

3 500

0.07%

3 500

0.07%

Marc Roesti

Member of the Board of Directors

Claudio Denz

Member of the Board of Directors & CD

1 500

0.03%

1 500

0.03%

149 000

2.98%

149 000

2.98%

Ulrich Hürlimann

CFO

100

0.00%

100

0.00%

David Rios

COO

500

0.01%

500

0.01%

Rosemarie Abels

Head of Procurement and Production

100

0.00%

100

0.00%

Marie-Laure Joly

Head of Marketing

100

0.00%

100

0.00%

Benedikt Irniger

Head of Suncare

–

–

20

0.00%

Total

4 407 800

88.16%

4 407 820

88.16%

Total Art & Fragrance Shares

5 000 000

100.00%

5 000 000

100.00%

The shares listed above, held by members of the Board
of Directors and Executive Board, are not subject to any
vesting periods. The option of purchasing blocked shares
in the company at market value (including a discount
which recognises the lock-up period and its duration) may

be accorded to members of both bodies. Otherwise, the
members of the Board of Directors and Executive Board are
not granted any special rights concerning the purchase of
shares.

LOANS AND CREDIT
Art & Fragrance may grant loans or credit to members of
the Board of Directors or Executive Board in exceptional
cases. The total sum of such loans and credits may not
exceed CHF 1 million per member. No such loans or credits

existed in the 2015 financial year, either towards present (or
former) members of the Board of Directors or Executive
Board or persons closely connected to these members.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE
AUDIT OF THE REMUNERATION REPORT

We have audited the accompanying remuneration report on
pages 107 to 110 of Art & Fragrance SA for the year ended
31 December 2015.
Responsibility of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation
and overall fair presentation of the remuneration report
in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against
Excessive Compensation in Listed Companies (Ordinance).
The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the
remuneration system and defining individual remuneration
packages.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
accompanying remuneration report. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the remuneration report complies
with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

Opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report for the year ended
31 December 2015 of Art & Fragrance SA complies with
Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

Ernst & Young AG
Alessandro Miolo
Authorised audit expert
(Auditor in charge)
Nathalie Balett
Authorised audit expert

Zurich, 13 May 2016

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence on the disclosures made in the remuneration
report with regard to compensation, loans and credits
in accordance with articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatements in the remuneration report, whether due
to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating
the reasonableness of the methods applied to value
components of remuneration, as well as assessing the
overall presentation of the remuneration report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INCOME STATEMENT

IN CHF THOUSANDS

201 5

Income from participating interests
Other income
Other income related parties

2014

11 150

–

–

745

15

–

Personnel expenses

–378

–354

Other operating expenses

–374

–949

–6

–4

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Impairment on loan to third party
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
Total financial income
Total financial expenses
Losses from sales on participations

–82

–

10 325

– 562

2 334

2 403

–3 192

–1 441

–24

Profit for the year before taxes
Direct Taxes
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
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9 443

400

–

–36

9 443

364

BALANCE SHEET

IN CHF THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

22

376

3

–

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other short term receivable third party
Other short term receivable related party

16

–

Total current assets

41

376

103 150

103 065

Non-current assets
Investments
Loans to shareholdings

63 347

55 416

Total non-current assets

166 497

158 481

TOTAL ASSETS

166 538

158 857

Short-term liabilities
Interest bearing short-term bank liabilities

37 233

34 802

Trade account payables

15

15

Other current liabilities due to third-party

90

74

Interest-bearing short-term loan due to bodies
Total short-term liabilities
Long-term liabilities Group companies

2 000

–

39 338

34 891

231

1 578

Interest bearing loans due to bodies

26 000

30 000

Total long-term liabilities

26 231

31 578

Total liabilities

65 569

66 469

Equity
Share capital
Statutory capital reserves
Statutory retained earnings
Voluntary retained earnings: Profit brought forward
Profit for the year
Treasury shares

1 000

1 000

19 822

19 822

393

1 255

70 311

69 947

9 443

364

–862

–

Total equity

100 969

92 388

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

166 538

158 857
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Applied valuation principles in the financial statements
These annual financial statements were prepared in line with
Swiss law, and in particular with the articles of the Swiss
Code of Obligations concerning accounting and financial
reporting (Art. 957f CO).
The 2015 annual financial statements were prepared for
the first time in accordance with provisions of the new
accounting law. To facilitate comparisons, the prior year's
balance sheet and income statements have been adjusted
to the new classification rules.
Treasury shares
Treasury shares are valued at acquisition cost at date of
recognition and recorded as negative value of the equity.
In case of sales a gain or loss will be recorded in financial
income or expenses.
Interest-bearing long-term loans
Interest-bearing long-term loans are valued at nominal
value.

Waiver of disclosing additional information for interest
bearing liabilities and cash flow statement
Because Art & Fragrance SA prepares its consolidated
financial statements in accordance with a recognised
standard for financial accounting (IFRS), in these financial
statements it has omitted the additional information with
respect to the interest bearing liabilities and a cash fow
statement from these financial statements.
Information about balance sheet and income
statement items
Full-time positions
No employees were employed at Art & Fragrance SA in the
year under review or the prior year.
Significant share holders
As end of the past financial year and as at prior year end
except for Silvio Denz owning 85% no other share holder
exceeds 5% of participation or voting right.
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IN CHF THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

9 871

12 752

–

–

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2015, there were unrecognised contingent liabilities (joint
guarantees) of EUR 9.119 million (31.12.2014: EUR 10.588 million) arising from shortand long-term loans and guaranteed rental income in connection with Lalique SA.
Guarantees
Joint and several liability for VAT debt resulting from the consolidated accounting
of VAT (group taxation)
Authorised and conditional capital
Authorised capital

–

–

Conditional capital

50

50

Treasury shares
Balance as at 01.01.
Purchases
Sales
Balance as at 31.12.

–

77

862

131

–

–208

862

–

As at 31 December 2015, the Company held 45 400 (31.12.2014: 0) treasury shares.
All shares were traded at the current quotation at the BX Berne eXchange.
The average purchase price of the share was CHF 18.98.
Directly held investments
A&F Management SA, Zollikon
Delivery of services
Share capital in CHF thousands
Ownership and voting right

500

500

100%

100%

Parfums Grès SA, Zollikon
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in CHF thousands
Ownership and voting right

250

250

100%

100%

Parfums Samouraï SA, Zollikon
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in CHF thousands
Ownership and voting right

250

250

100%

100%

Jaguar Fragrances SA, Zollikon
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in CHF thousands
Ownership and voting right
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250

250

100%

100%
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IN CHF THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

Bentley Fragrances SA, Zollikon
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in CHF thousands

250

250

100%

100%

Share capital in CHF thousands

1 000

1 000

Ownership and voting right

100%

100%

Ownership and voting right
Lalique Parfums SA, Zollikon
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products

Art & Fragrance Distribution SA, Zollikon
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in CHF thousands
Ownership and voting right

100

100

100%

100%

Ultrasun AG, Zollikon
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in CHF thousands
Ownership and voting right

250

250

100%

100%

34 400

34 400

95%

95%

Lalique SA, Paris
Production and sale/distribution of crystal, jewellery, perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in EUR thousands
Ownership and voting right
Lalique Suisse SA, Zollikon
Wholesale and retail trade in consumer products and luxury items,
in particular of the Lalique brand
Share capital in CHF thousands
Ownership and voting right

100

100

100%

100%

Lalique Maison SA, Zollikon
Creation and sale/distribution of furniture and interior design accessories
Share capital in CHF thousands1
Ownership and voting right

100

100

100%

100%

Lalique Art SA, Zollikon
Creation, development and trade of/in objects of art and decorative elements
Share capital in CHF thousands1
Ownership and voting right
1 of which paid-in: CHF 50,000 each
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100

100

100%

100%

IN CHF THOUSANDS

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

Share capital in EUR thousands

1 503

1 503

Ownership and voting right

100%

100%

Art & Fragrance Services SASU, Ury
Filling of perfumes and perfume logistics

SCI du Mont à Grillon, Ury
Management and rental of real estate
Share capital in EUR thousands
Ownership and voting right

1

1

99%

99%

Villa René Lalique SAS, Wingen-sur-Moder
Organisation of congresses and conferences; management of assets in this context
Share capital in EUR thousands

–

10

Ownership and voting right

–

100%

Villa Hochberg SAS, Wingen-sur-Moder
Organisation of congresses and conferences; management of assets in this context
Share capital in EUR thousands

–

10

Ownership and voting right

–

100%

100

–

100%

–

Art & Fragrance Distribution SÀRL, Ury
Trade in perfume and cosmetic products
Share capital in EUR thousands
Ownership and voting right
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Shares held by members of Board of Directors and the Executive Board

NAME

FUNCTION

31.1 2.201 5

IN %

31.1 2.2014

IN %

85,00%

Silvio Denz

President of the Board of Directors

4 250 000

85,00%

4 250 000

Roger von der Weid

Delegate of the Board of Directors & CEO

3 000

0,06%

3 000

0,06%

Roland Weber

Vice-president of the Board of Directors

3 500

0,07%

3 500

0,07%

Marc Roesti

Member of the Board of Directors

Claudio Denz

Member of the Board of Directors & CD

1 500

0,03%

1 500

0,03%

149 000

2,98%

149 000

2,98%

Ulrich Hürlimann

CFO

100

0,00%

100

0,00%

David Rios

COO

500

0,01%

500

0,01%

Rosemarie Abels

Head of Procurement and Production

100

0,00%

100

0,00%

Marie-Laure Joly

Head of Marketing

100

0,00%

100

0,00%

Benedikt Irniger

Head of Suncare

–

–

20

0,00%

Total

4 407 800

88,16%

4 407 820

88,16%

Total Art & Fragrance Shares

5 000 000

100,00%

5 000 000

100,00%
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PROPOSAL FOR THE APPROPRIATION OF
AVAILABLE EARNINGS

IN CHF THOUSANDS

Approval of the Annual Report and accounts for financial year 2015,
closing with a profit of
Brought forward from the previous year
Change in reserve for treasury shares
Total available to the General Meeting

31.1 2.201 5

31.1 2.2014

9 443

364

70 311

69 870

–

77

79 754

70 311

–2 500

–

Appropriation of available earnings as follows
Dividend payment (0.50 CHF per share)
Disclaimer for dividend payment of principal shareholder
No dividend payment to treasury shares
BALANCE BROUGHT FORWARD TO NEW ACCOUNTS
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2 125

–

23

–

79 402

70 311
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial
statements of Art & Fragrance SA, which comprise the
income statement, the balance sheet and notes (pages
113 to 120) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2015 comply with Swiss law and the
company’s articles of incorporation.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles
of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining an internal control system
relevant to the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Report on other legal requirements
We hereby confirm that we meet the legal requirements
on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA)
and independence (Art. 728 Swiss Code of Obligations
(CO) and Art. 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances
incompatible with our independence.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation
of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the
company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that
the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

In accordance with Art. 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and
Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal
control system exists, which has been designed for the
preparation of financial statements according to the
instructions of the Board of Directors.

Ernst & Young AG
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers the internal control system relevant
to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Alessandro Miolo
Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)
Nathalie Balett
Licensed audit expert

Zurich, 13 May 2016
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains forward-looking statements based on current assumptions and projections made by management. Such
statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results and
performance of the Art & Fragrance Group to differ from those expressed in, implied or projected by the forward-looking
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